

NEPS SURVEY PAPERS

Maximilian Seitz, Manja Attig, Dave Möwisch and Sabine Weinert VISUAL HABITUATION -DISHABITUATION TASKS IN NEPS STARTING COHORT 1: APPROACHES TO INTERPRETING THE DATA



NEPS *Survey Paper* No. 102 Bamberg, February 2023 | Updated: April 2023

NEPS National Educational Panel Study

Survey Papers of the German National Educational Panel Study (NEPS)

at the Leibniz Institute for Educational Trajectories (LIfBi) at the University of Bamberg

The NEPS *Survey Paper* series provides articles with a focus on methodological aspects and data handling issues related to the German National Educational Panel Study (NEPS).

They are of particular relevance for the analysis of NEPS data as they describe data editing and data collection procedures as well as instruments or tests used in the NEPS survey. Papers that appear in this series fall into the category of 'grey literature' and may also appear elsewhere.

The NEPS *Survey Papers* are edited by a review board consisting of the scientific management of LIfBi and NEPS.

The NEPS *Survey Papers* are available at www.neps-data.de (see section "Publications") and at www.lifbi.de/publications.

Editor-in-Chief: Thomas Bäumer, LIfBi

Review Board: Board of Directors, Heads of LIfBi Departments, and Scientific Management of NEPS Working Units

Contact: German National Educational Panel Study (NEPS) – Leibniz Institute for Educational Trajectories – Wilhelmsplatz 3 – 96047 Bamberg – Germany – contact@lifbi.de

Visual Habituation-Dishabituation Tasks in NEPS Starting Cohort 1: Approaches to Interpreting the Data

Maximilian Seitz¹, Manja Attig¹, Dave Möwisch¹, Sabine Weinert²

¹Leibniz Institute for Educational Trajectories (LIfBi) ²University of Bamberg

E-mail address of lead author:

maximilian.seitz@lifbi.de

Bibliographic data:

Seitz, M., Attig, M., Möwisch, D. & Weinert, S. (2023). *Visual habituation-dishabituation tasks in NEPS Starting Cohort 1: Approaches to interpreting the data* (NEPS Survey Paper No. 102). Leibniz Institute for Educational Trajectories, National Educational Panel Study. doi:10.5157/NEPS:SP102:2.0

Please note: This NEPS Survey Paper has been modified in April 2023. You will find the documentation of the modifications on the last pages, following the appendix. The original paper can still be found using <u>https://doi.org/10.5157/NEPS:SP102:1.0</u>

Visual Habituation-Dishabituation Tasks in NEPS Starting Cohort 1: Approaches to Interpreting the Data

Abstract

Research suggests a certain degree of interindividual stability and continuity in cognitive development. Studying basic cognitive abilities in young children is crucial for understanding the development of later abilities, skills, and competencies. One central behavioral method for studying early cognition are habituation-dishabituation tasks. In habituationdishabituation tasks, children's visual attention towards different stimuli are examined. Typically, a sequence of identical or similar stimuli are presented in a habituation phase, whereas the subsequent dishabituation phase features a novel and divergent stimulus. A broad consensus is that such behavioral measures reflect early cognitive abilities, namely stimulus encoding, remembering, and discrimination. As one of few large-scale studies, the Newborn Cohort of the German National Educational Panel Study (NEPS SC1) used habituation-dishabituation tasks to assess early cognitive abilities in the first two survey waves, namely when the children were on average 7 months and 17 months. This survey paper provides an overview on the theoretical and empirical backgrounds of these tasks. Further, a detailed technical report on the stimulus material and testing procedure is given. In addition, there is an overview on what kind of information is available for the scientific community in the Scientific Use File. In the main section, several approaches to the data are presented as a means to estimate children's habituation and dishabituation and, consequently, generate indicators of early cognitive abilities. This includes a number of discrete index measures that are typically used in the literature as well as examples of a data reduction procedure that has seen less coverage in infant research. The index measures are contrasted and their usage with regard to NEPS SC1 is discussed. Finally, we provide information on, among others, task disturbances, missing data, and child characteristics that are useful for data selection and interpretation.

Keywords

Habituation, infants, cognitive development

Table of contents

1.	Introduction and theoretical background	4
	1.1 Theoretical background on infant habituation	4
	1.2 Predicting cognitive abilities with habituation-dishabituation tasks	5
	1.3 Uses in large-scale studies	6
2.	Stimulus material and task procedure	8
	2.1 Experimental setup	9
	2.2 Task administration	10
	2.3 Wave 1	10
	2.4 Wave 2	11
	2.5 Stimulus material	11
	2.6 Coding procedure	13
	2.7 Household setting	13
3.	Information on available data	14
	3.1 Data base information	14
	3.2 Describing the data	15
4.	Approaches to interpreting the data	20
	4.1 Measures of habituation and dishabituation	21
	4.2 Data reduction methods	30
5.	Data selection	34
	5.1 Handling short looking times	34
	5.2 Disturbances	37
	5.3 Child characteristics	38
	5.4 Multiple family languages	39
	5.5 Data transformation	39
6.	Summary and Conclusion	40
7.	References	43
8.	Appendix: Stimulus material	57

1. Introduction and theoretical background

From a lifespan perspective, it is necessary to study the development of cognitive abilities from infancy. To understand the origins of later competencies and achievements in educational settings, young children's cognitive functioning needs to be examined, especially in the context of other interindividual differences regarding structural and environmental factors (e.g., socioeconomic background, parenting behavior, and educational institutions). Fantz' (1964) seminal study on infant visual habituation marked the beginning of modern investigations on the cognitive development of young children and highlighted that even with preverbal infants, habituation-dishabituation tasks can give insight into cognitive functioning at an early age (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009). The central observation was that by presenting children with a series of visual stimuli, their behavioral response, for example fixation or looking time, could be measured. The underlying concept is that children distribute attention to the stimulus material, which is associated with distinct behavioral patterns. Habituation and the conceptually related process of familiarization (Aslin, 2007) refer to the phenomenon of decreasing attention throughout a sequence of either identical or similar stimuli, while dishabituation covers the subsequent mechanism of attention recovery when a novel stimulus is shown. Habituation and dishabituation are generally thought to reflect aspects of basic cognition such as attention, categorization, or information processing (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009). Since the 1960s, research has used this basic paradigm in numerous variations by manipulating the stimulus material, presentation time, or the presentation mode (Thompson, 2009). Often, habituation-dishabituation tasks are used to study early precursor abilities of later cognitive skills or competencies (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009).

This section provides an introduction to the theoretical background of habituationdishabituation tasks (**1.1 Theoretical background on infant habituation**) as well as basic information on how habituation-dishabituation tasks are used to predict later skills and competencies (**1.2 Predicting cognitive abilities with habituation-dishabituation tasks**). Finally, the use of habituation-dishabituation tasks in large-scale studies is discussed, which is linked with the question why they are a relevant method for studying early cognition abilities (**1.3 Uses in large-scale studies**).

1.1 Theoretical background on infant habituation

Historically, there have been several approaches to explaining the phenomena of habituation and dishabituation. Early theories essentially hold habituation as a sign of fatigue and dishabituation as perceptual sensitization. Such models theorized that habituation is either predominately a physiological process of local retinal adaptation (Bronson, 1974) or a process of selective cortical adaptation (Dannemiller & Banks, 1982). However, because processes of habituation and dishabituation occur independent of the eye (Slater et al., 1983) and in tasks with delayed stimulus presentation (Slater & Morison, 1985), purely perceptual frameworks cannot explain the phenomena adequately.

In contrast, cognitive theories hold habituation and dishabituation as indicators of information processing in infants. The most popular cognitive model is Sokolov's (1990) comparator model, in which habituation reflects the formation of a neuronal representation of the stimulus (i.e., stimulus encoding), whereas dishabituation reflects stimulus discrimination (Kavšek, 2013). The decrement in looking times during the habituation phase is, hereby, the result of an activated inhibitory system in the hippocampus that increasingly suppresses the

orientation response. In accordance, dishabituation is a renewed orientation response to a novel stimulus due to a lack of inhibition because the novel stimulus does not match the previously formed mental representation. Sokolov's conceptualization remains one of the most relevant theoretical frameworks to understand the processes of habituation and dishabituation in infancy (Kavšek, 2013; Sicard-Cras et al., 2022). Still, it should be noted that while attention decrement is generally interpreted as an indicator of information processing (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009), many internal and external factors may contribute to any observable behavior in young children (e.g., familiarization or fatigue; Houston-Price & Nakai, 2004; Slaughter & Suddendorf, 2007).

Although many studies on infant cognition use habituation-dishabituation tasks, there are essential differences in stimulus material, presentation time, and presentation mode. Generally, there are infant-controlled and fixed-trial designs. In the former, the transition from the habituation to the dishabituation phase is administered adaptively if the child showed a pre-defined decrement in looking time; in the latter, the presentation time for all stimuli as well as for the intertrial interval is the same (Oakes, 2010). Stimulus material in the dishabituation phase may be presented alone or paired with a distracting stimulus, depending on the research design. In fixed-trial designs, children's reaction indicates attention recovery, in infant-controlled designs, novelty preference is assessed (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009). For most task types, stimulus material can be manipulated in a number of ways (e.g., identical stimuli vs. categorical stimuli) and modes (e.g., visual, auditory, tactile). Overall, there have been numerous approaches at operationalizing attention decrement and attention recovery, depending on the research question and data availability, and the present report only presents selected measures (**4. Approaches to interpreting the data**).

1.2 Assessing early cognitive abilities with habituation-dishabituation tasks

Empirically, visual habituation-dishabituation tasks are used, among others, to study children's perception (Arterberry & Kellman, 2016), categorization skills (Quinn & Eimas, 1996), memory capacity (McCall & Carriger, 1993), understanding of physical (Baillargeon, 2008) and mathematical processes (Cantrell & Smith, 2013), statistical learning (Bulf et al., 2011), and theory of mind (Onishi & Baillargeon, 2005). They are not only used for testing theoretical assumptions of early cognition but also to study typical and atypical cognitive development and early predictors of later cognitive skills and competencies. Because of a certain degree of continuity and stability in information processing in childhood (Bornstein, 1985; Jensen, 1993; Kail, 1991), habituation and dishabituation measures can be used as early predictors of interindividual cognitive differences (e.g., Davis & Anderson, 2010). In this context, continuity refers to the assumption that individual sources of variation in early abilities and skills explain variation at later time points, whereas stability refers to children's relative rank order in their performance on cognitive tasks over time when compared to others (Bjorklund & Causey, 2018).

Habituation efficiency and attention recovery, indicating fast stimulus encoding and good discrimination abilities, are seen as a foundation of general cognitive development (Bornstein et al., 2006; McCall & Carriger, 1993). Habituation measures are reasoned to be associated with speed of information processing or fluid intelligence, while dishabituation measures are associated with recognition memory or memory capacity (Rose et al., 2004; Rose et al., 2012). Because children need to compare each stimulus with the previous ones, processes of

repeated memory updating are activated that are essential for working memory (Ropeter & Pauen, 2013). Thus, habituation and dishabituation measures have been used to predict later general cognitive functioning (McCall & Carriger, 1993), receptive and productive language skills (Tamis-LeMonda & Bornstein, 1989; Dixon & Smith, 2008), and school achievement (Bornstein et al., 2013; Colombo et al., 2004). The predictive effects were found to be robust, even after controlling for the children's family background, like maternal education or socio-economic status (Bornstein et al., 2006). Meta-analyses (Kavšek, 2004b; McCall, 1994) have shown medium-sized predictive effects of early information processing as measured with habituation-dishabituation tasks for later intellectual functioning (habituation measures: r=.45; dishabituation measures: r=.39; see also Domsch et al., 2009).

Regarding the predictive effects of habituation and dishabituation measures for various aspects of cognition, studies showed that attention decrement (i.e., stimulus encoding) and attention recovery (i.e., stimulus discrimination) are positively associated with early cognitive abilities (Bornstein & Sigman, 1986; McCall & Carriger, 1993; Rose et al., 2012). More specifically, habituation in three-month old children positively predicts IQ scores (e.g., Griffiths Mental Development Scales; Griffiths, 1984) four years later (Bornstein et al., 2006; Laucht et al., 1994), although effects are small (coefficients of up to r=.21). Still, arguing for developmental cascades, Bornstein and colleagues (2013) found that habituation efficiency had a distinct positive, albeit indirect, effect on school achievement ten years later (r=.06). Several authors argue that habituation-dishabituation tasks are more useful than standard developmental tests for assessing early cognitive abilities in infants and predicting later skills and competencies (McCall, 1994; Teubert et al., 2011), especially in longitudinal designs.

When studying such predictive effects, habituation-dishabituation tasks may tap into either domain-general or domain-specific precursor abilities. While there is considerable debate about the nature and relation of underlying domain-general and domain-specific mechanisms of cognition (for a discussion, see Rakison & Yermolayeva, 2011), many researchers agree that children's developmental learning process necessarily involves domain-general and domain-specific abilities (Bjorklund & Causey, 2018). Habituation-dishabituation tasks indicate early learning, which contributes to how children acquire new content knowledge and develop competencies. In this sense, habituation-dishabituation can be used to assess cognitive precursor abilities of later skills and competencies in various domains of knowledge, such as mathematics or language (National Research Council, 2015).

1.3 Uses in large-scale studies

Cognitive abilities at an early age are frequently assessed in large-scale studies drawing on newborn cohorts (Hachul et al., 2019). When opting for behavioral observations, most studies use the Bayley Scales of Infant Development (Bayley, 2006) or the extended Infant Scales of the Griffiths Mental Developmental Scales (Griffiths, 1970; Luiz et al., 2001) (see Hachul et al., 2019). However, in large-scale assessments, the administration of such standardized developmental tests can be relatively error-prone. In addition, such tests in the first two years of life have poor predictive validity for later cognitive functioning (Aylward, 2013; Krogh & Væver, 2019), probably due to the focus on potentially unstable sensorimotor measures (Dunst & Rheingrover, 1981). Thus, in the Newborn Cohort of the German National Educational Panel Study (NEPS SC1) habituation-dishabituation tasks were implemented for assessing basic cognitive abilities in addition to a short measure of sensorimotor development

(Weinert et al., 2016). For studying cognitive development in children, large-scale studies are important because they are typically more heterogeneous than laboratory studies (Oakes, 2017). Moreover, small laboratory studies might lead to an overestimation of actual effects at the population level (Maxwell, 2004), which is why large-scale studies need to replicate and verify existing findings (Oakes, 2017).

Small laboratory studies often have homogeneous samples because of convenience sampling, resulting in an unwanted focus on infants from a middle-class socioeconomic background (Fernald, 2010). Relying on such samples could potentially lead to biased findings on infant cognitive development (Henrich et al., 2010) because socioeconomic background is associated with interindividual differences in cognitive stimulation from early on (Attig & Weinert, 2018). Likewise, Bronfenbrenner's bioecological model of human development (Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006) stresses the importance of the family on the microsystem level, especially the effect of the social class (e.g., parental income and education). Empirically, it could be shown that social disparities in the cognitive development of infants can be found as early as 9 months (Halle et al., 2009). Few studies have investigated effects of socioeconomic background on early cognitive abilities using habituation-dishabituation tasks, probably because of the selective samples that usually participate in laboratory studies (Oakes, 2017). To conclude, there are associations of young children's socioeconomic backgrounds and their cognitive development, which is why large-scale studies with heterogeneous samples are important.

To the knowledge of the authors, apart from NEPS SC1, there have been only two previous large-scale studies in which habituation-dishabituation tasks were used: The Mannheim Study of Children at Risk (MARS) and the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC). MARS was a German prospective longitudinal study of psychosocial risk factors on child development that started data collection in 1986 (Esser & Schmidt, 2017; Laucht et al., 1994; Laucht et al., 2000). ALSPAC was a British population-based study that started data collection in 1991. In ALSPAC, the tasks were administered in an infant-controlled design at 4 months in the Child in Focus subsample (about 10% of the cohort; The ALSPAC Study Team, 2019). Measures of visual attention and visual recognition memory were included as predictors of later cognitive development, as an outcome measure of prenatal maternal behavior, and as a control variable for general child development (Moulton et al., 2020). Methodologically, analyses of the large-scale data have shown that non-completion of the habituation task, namely because the children were too restless, tired or distressed, was not at random, highlighting the potential bias in existing data and warning against generalizations of the findings (Bell et al., 1998; Bell et al., 2002). With regard to the validity of the measures as indicators of early cognitive functioning, only few analyses have included the tasks (Bornstein et al., 2006; Bornstein et al., 2013).

The aim of the present survey paper was to provide an overview of all habituationdishabituation tasks used in NEPS SC1. In the next sections, information on the stimulus material, testing procedure, coding procedure (**2. Stimulus material and task procedure**), and sample are given (**3. Information on available data**). We selected two general approaches to interpreting the children's habituation and dishabituation (**4. Approaches to interpreting the data**): Index measures for interindividual comparisons and more advanced data reduction techniques. As we were interested in interindividual differences, we also examined agerelated differences. In addition, information on data selection is given and methodological caveats when using NEPS SC1 are discussed (**5. Data selection**). Finally, we summarized central findings from our calculations (**6. Summary and conclusion**). The stimulus material can be found in the appendix (**8. Appendix**).

2. Stimulus material and task procedure

This section provides a technical report and overview of the habituation-dishabituation tasks used in NEPS SC1. The aim of this survey paper is to inform users of approaches to the available data and highlight potential ways to analyze them. As habituation-dishabituation tasks tap into early cognitive abilities, the data may be used to investigate the development of cognition, examine the predictive validity of measures drawn from the tasks for later skills and competencies, or control for early interindividual differences in cognition (Weinert et al., 2016).

At Wave 1 (children on average 7 months) and Wave 2 (children on average 17 months), domain-general and domain-specific habituation-dishabituation tasks were conducted to assess children's early cognitive abilities. In the context of NEPS, the terms domain-general and domain-specific refer to precursor abilities for later skills development. Similarly, cognitive abilities refer to a global capacity of applying various aspects of mental processes for learning and knowledge acquisition (VanLehn, 1996). Thus, the habituation-dishabituation tasks in NEPS SC1 were conceptualized to assess early learning in more general and more specific domains of cognition (e.g., mathematics and language).

Overall, there were four different tasks: Two domain-general categorization tasks (Wave 1: Task A and Task B; Wave 2: Task C; Task B and Task C used the same stimulus material); a numerical task (Wave 2: Task D); and a word-learning task with categorical stimulus material (Wave 2: Task E). The domain-general categorization tasks featured categorical stimulus material during the habituation phase with an out-of-category exemplar during the dishabituation phase. The level of complexity differed between the tasks and the more complex task was also administered at Wave 2 for comparing the children's habituation and dishabituation over time. The numerical task featured varying proportions of magnitude that were reversed in the dishabituation phase. Finally, the word-learning task featured categorical stimulus material during the habituation phase that was presented with a pseudoword.

For all tasks, a fixed-control procedure without task or stimulus randomization was chosen because a reliable on-line coding of the children's looking behavior with trained interviewers in the children's households with a limited experimental setup was not possible. As suggested by Werner and Perlmutter (1979), fixed-trial designs can be useful for samples with a broad age range because they accommodate individual differences in encoding time. The focus in NEPS SC1 was on interpreting interindividual differences, which fixed-trial designs typically allow for (Slater et al., 1984; Thomas & Gilmore, 2004). In addition, an attention control phase with completely different pictures was included for all tasks to control for possible effects of fatigue or distractions in the children's homes.

It is theoretically expected that habituation-dishabituation tasks assess information processing or early learning, which is indicated by attention decrement (familiarity effect) during the habituation phase and attention recovery (novelty effect) during the dishabituation phase (Figure 1). Thus, the domain-general tasks were expected to assess early categorical information processing, which should be predictive of later general intellectual functioning.

The numerical task was hypothesized to tap into children's early numerical understanding or quantitative abilities, which should be a precursor of later mathematical skills. Finally, the word-learning task tested children's early word learning, which should be an important precursor of later vocabulary development.



Figure 1. Schematic illustration of the procedure of the habituation-dishabituation tasks.

2.1 Experimental setup

NEPS SC1 (NEPS Network, 2021)¹ collected data nation-wide between August 2012 and March 2013 (Wave 1) and between July 2013 and December 2013 (Wave 2). Both the parental interviews (Wave 1) and the child observations were conducted in the households (direct behavioral measures). On average, a home visit lasted about 95 minutes in Wave 1 (i.e., interview and observation of the child) and 60 minutes in Wave 2 (i.e., a preliminary telephone interview of the full sample and child observation of half of the sample at a later point) (Weinert et al., 2016). Visual habituation-dishabituation tasks as direct behavioral measures were administered at both waves. Interviewers who had a professional background in large-scale interviews were trained regarding psychological testing to administer the tasks. To ensure a standardized procedure in the households of the participating families, the experimental setup and task sequence were clearly defined, and extensive training courses for the interviewers were provided.

The children sat on the lap of their parent, which was in the most cases the biological mother (Wave 1: 98.19%; Wave 2: 99.02%). The experimental setup, consisting of a notebook (model: Lenovo T60) for presenting the stimulus material and a video camera (model: AIPTEK AHD Z700) for recording the children's behavior, was arranged on a nearby table (height: 65-85 cm). The interviewers should clear away any distracting objects and arrange the whole setup so as no light reflections would impair the children's sight.

The stimulus material was presented as a video sequence on the notebook, with the volume set to maximum. The notebook was on a cardboard box and both the setup and the screen were adjusted to the infants' ideal field of vision. The cardboard box was 10 cm from the edge of the table, with the screen being 1 m away from the infant's ear. One foldable visual cover was placed over the notebook's keyboard, while another was used to mask the camera and

¹ This paper uses data from the National Educational Panel Study (NEPS; see Blossfeld & Roßbach, 2019). The NEPS is carried out by the Leibniz Institute for Educational Trajectories (LIfBi, Germany) in cooperation with a nationwide network.

the area behind the notebook. The camera lens protruded the visual cover to record the children's behavior from a central angle (Figure 2).

The parent was instructed to sit as quietly as possible and not distract the child in any way (e.g., verbal or non-verbal reactions to the stimulus material). However, the parent was not blindfolded. During the task, the interviewer stood behind the parent, away from the child's field of vision. Other people (e.g., partners) or pets were not allowed in the same room, with the only exceptions being young siblings in cases where they could not be taken care of in another room.



Figure 2. Schematic illustration of the task administration.

2.2 Task administration

As the habituation-dishabituation tasks were administered by interviewers who typically had no professional background in conducting experiments, a high degree of standardization and off-line coding were necessary, which is why a fixed-trial design was chosen. The interviewers were instructed to choose when to administer the habituation-dishabituation task during the parental interview. This way, fatigue effects could be avoided and the tasks could be assessed when the child was deemed alert, calm, and cooperative.

During the experimental setup, a blue dummy screen was shown. All tasks started the same way, with a countdown (i.e., numbers 3-1) and a subsequent eye-catcher (i.e., an animated penguin accompanied by a short three-note jingle). When the interviewer started the experiment, descending black numbers from 3-1 were shown on the blue screen (count in) (8. Appendix: Stimulus material). After that, the habituation phase started immediately.

2.3 Procedure at Wave 1

At Wave 1 (infants aged on average 7 months), all infants of the sample were asked to participate in a fixed sequence of two visual, domain-general habituation-dishabituation tasks

testing categorization skills (Task A; Task B). Regarding the sequence of the stimulus material and the presentation time, the procedure was the same for all infants. In both tasks, the habituation phase was followed by a dishabituation phase and a subsequent attention control phase, respectively (8. Appendix: Stimulus material). The habituation phases featured a number of individually presented categorical stimuli. The dishabituation and attention control phases deviated to different extents from the respective habituation phase. The dishabituation phase featured images comparable to the previous habituation phase but deviant in form and color (i.e., out-of-category exemplars). Thus, this phase tested children's attention recovery and categorization. The attention control phase featured completely different pictures to check for effects of fatigue. All habituation trials were presented for 10 seconds and were accompanied by an audio cue (i.e., a three-note jingle) to attract the children's attention. The dishabituation and attention control trials were presented for 15 seconds, also accompanied by the audio cue; for reasons of comparability, only 10 seconds were coded and made publically available. Intertrial interval duration was 2 seconds, or 1 second between two trials of the dishabituation and attention control phases, respectively. There was a pause interval of 5 seconds between the tasks. The habituation phases featured nine trials, meaning nine individual pictures. Overall, administering both tasks lasted for about 6.5 minutes.

2.4 Procedure at Wave 2

At Wave 2 (toddlers aged on average 17 months), half of the original sample2 participated in a fixed sequence of visual habituation-dishabituation tasks: A domain-general task testing categorization skills (Task C), a domain-specific task testing numerical abilities (Task D), and a domain-specific task testing word learning (Task E). Regarding the sequence of the stimulus material and the presentation time, the procedure was the same for all children. In all tasks, the habituation phase was followed by a dishabituation phase and a subsequent attention control phase, respectively (8. Appendix: Stimulus material). The habituation phases featured a number of individually presented categorical stimuli. The dishabituation and attention control phases deviated to different extents from the respective habituation phase. The dishabituation phase featured images comparable to the previous habituation phase but deviant in form and color (i.e., out-of-category exemplars; Task C; Task E) or with a reversed proportion, respectively (Task D). Thus, this phase tested children's attention recovery and categorization (Task C), numerical abilities (Task D), or word learning (Task E). The attention control phase featured completely different pictures to check for effects of fatigue. All trials were presented for 10 seconds and were accompanied by an audio cue (i.e., a short threenote jingle) to attract the children's attention, except for Task E. Intertrial interval duration was always 2 seconds. There was a pause interval of 5 seconds between the tasks. The habituation phases featured nine trials (Task C; Task E), or four trials (Task D), respectively. Overall, administering all tasks lasted for about 7.5 minutes.

2.5 Stimulus material

Task A: The first task at Wave 1 featured categorical stimuli to test children's domain-general categorization skills. All trials were introduced by a short three-note jingle played once (400-300-500 Hz; 1.14 seconds). The habituation phase featured various curvilinear cartoon flowers

² By design, only half of the sample (random selection) was visited at home to participate in the habituation-dishabituation tasks. Beforehand, all families participated in a telephone interview when the children were on average 14 months old.

with an orange and yellow color scheme, while the dishabituation phase featured two different rectangular cartoon flowers with a blue color scheme. The attention control phase featured two identical photos of a dog. The stimulus material was adapted from previous validation studies (Pahnke, 2007)³.

Task B: The second task at Wave 1 featured categorical stimuli to test children's domaingeneral categorization skills. All trials were introduced by a short three-note jingle played once (500-500-400 Hz; 1.14 seconds). The habituation phase featured various curvilinear cartoon bugs with symmetrical antennae, while the dishabituation phase featured two different rectangular cartoon bugs with asymmetrical antennae and a blue color scheme. The attention control phase featured two identical photos of a pineapple. The stimulus material was used and tested in previous studies at the chair of developmental psychology at the University of Bamberg, Germany (Zhang, 2007).

Task C: The first task at Wave 2 was nearly identical with Task B. The only difference to Task B was that in Task C the presentation time of the dishabituation trials was shorter (i.e., 10 seconds instead of 15 seconds). Administrating the same task at Wave 2 was deemed useful for analyzing the development of habituation and dishabituation.

Task D: The second task at Wave 2 featured number-related stimuli to test children's domainspecific understanding of non-symbolic magnitudes, which is also called numerical ability (Geary, 2000) or numeracy (Bynner & Parsons, 1997). All trials were introduced by a short three-note jingle played once (400-300-500 Hz; 1.14 seconds). An adapted version of Cooper's (1984) stimulus material was tested at the chair of developmental psychology at the University of Bamberg, Germany (Freund, 2012). A sequence of four pictures was presented in the habituation phase; cartoon sheep were always on the left side, whereas cartoon bears were always on the right side. In each presented habituation picture, the number of sheep outmatched the number of bears (\leq 4 per category). The first dishabituation stimulus reversed the ratio in favor of the bears and the second dishabituation picture had a balanced ratio. The attention control phase featured two identical photos of a flower. Thus, the task tested whether children would be surprised by the shift in magnitude at the transition to the dishabituation phase, and consequently show more attention to the novel stimulus.

Task E: The third task at Wave 2 featured categorical stimuli in combination with a pseudoword (Zhang, 2007). In the habituation phase, the visual stimuli were imaginary cartoon creatures that were made of a varying number of circular shapes. All had the same facial features (i.e., eyes, nose, and mouth). In the two trials of the dishabituation phase, the creatures consisted of rectangular shapes and dim colors. Because of the rectangular design, the facial features were markedly different from the previous trials. The attention control phase featured two identical pictures of a tree. With each visual stimulus, a pseudoword was played as a language-related stimulus. The pseudoword was played once per picture and was accompanied by an object identifier (i.e., "Ein Jalos"; 1.93 seconds). "Ein" is a German indefinite article and "Jalos" is a pseudoword referring to the creature (Waxman & Kosowski, 1990). The auditory stimulus was produced by an adult woman and did not vary, as variation is often thought to be distracting (Parmentier et al., 2011). Thus, the task can be considered a

³ We would like to thank Prof. Dr. S. Pauen for her advice on the implementation of the paradigm.

word-learning task, as the pseudoword was presented in combination all stimuli (e.g., Stekmachowicz et al., 2004).

2.6 Coding procedure

The tasks were recorded in the households of the families on a video camera in 30 frames per second, at a resolution of 1280×720 pixel. The children's looking behavior was coded offline by trained independent raters blind to the stimulus material. For each frame, the children's looking behavior was categorized in "towards the target" or "away from the target". Blinking (i.e., events ≤ 8 frames) was coded as a continuous target fixation, if the child looked at the target stimulus before and after having blinked. In this manner, looking times were accumulated for each trial. While visual attention research uses more fine-grained definitions of fixation time (Hendry et al., 2019), in the context of NEPS SC1, the term refers to the global looking time on target. The coding software was Interact 9.6.1.170 (Mangold International, 2011; see Attig & Weinert, 2018; Weinert et al., 2017). Interrater reliability was tested on a subsample of 10% of all videos at each wave. Two independent raters coded randomly drawn videos and the collapsed rating agreement at Wave 1 (unadjusted level of agreement: 95%; κ =.92) and Wave 2 (unadjusted level of agreement: 96%; κ =.92) was high.

2.7 Household setting

As findings and field reports from comparable large-scale studies were limited and household settings in habituation research had seldom been compared to laboratory settings (Bornstein & Ludeman, 1989), prior to NEPS SC1, run-up tests were conducted to identify issues that could be a threat to standardization. Several aspects were identified that were also addressed in the training course of the interviewers, even if certain aspects could not be standardized.

Lighting: Uneven or unbalanced illumination in the room of observation could distract children and lead to unreliable video coding. The interviewers were trained in creating comparable lighting for each observation, but given the heterogeneity of the households, this aspect could not be completely standardized.

Furnishing: Tables and chairs of varying sizes and heights were expected in the households. Therefore, certain necessary features were defined (i.e., table height), while others were prohibited (e.g., the use of swivel chairs). It was expected that such basic furniture should not be a problem in most households.

Laptop setup: The tilt angle of the screen had to be adjusted by the interviewers in order that the children could see the stimulus presentation without any distractions (e.g., screen glare). Therefore, the interviewers should check the children's field of vision before starting the tasks.

Camera position: The interviewers were instructed to position the camera for recording the children's looking behavior at a preset height directly behind the laptop setup. Thus, the position was centered and the height of the camera was fixed, regardless of the differences in interior design of the households.

3. Information on available data

The following section provides information on all available data in the public Scientific Use File⁴ (NEPS Network, 2021). Due to data curation other data releases might differ from the data set used for the present calculations, although no fundamental changes regarding the data of the habituation-dishabituation tasks are expected. In the following sections, the general sample is described, as not for all children valid looking times are available even though most parents gave consent in participating in the habituation-dishabituation tasks (**3.1 Data base information**). In addition, descriptive information on children's accumulated fixation times on target is provided (**3.2 Describing the data**). These fixation times provide the basis for the calculations in the latter section of this report.

3.1 Data base information

Overall, NEPS SC1 started with a sample size of N=3481 children at Wave 1. However, due to a lack of parental consent, sample attrition, study design, child-related reasons, and extraneous disturbances, the habituation-dishabituation tasks were not assessed or could not be correctly coded in all cases. Table 1 reports information on parental consent in participating in the habituation-dishabituation tasks, which was administered during the parental interview (Wave 1) or on a separate date after the parental telephone interview (Wave 2). At both waves, parental consent was high. At Wave 2, all parents were asked to participate in a telephone interview; however, only half of the sample was by design asked to participate in the habituation-dishabituation tasks (N=1510). Due to the large-scale sampling, children's age was broadly distributed: Wave 1 (M=7.00 months, SD=0.76, Min=5.15, Max=11.93), Wave 2 (M=17.05 months, SD=0.61, Min=15.77, Max=20.36).

Table 1

	Wave 1	Wave 2
	(full sample)	(half sample per design)
Informed consent	3129 (89.89%)	1484 (98.28%)
No consent	352 (10.11%)	26 (1.72%)

Parental Consent in Participating in the Habituation-Dishabituation Tasks

Note. Percentages refer to the total sample at Wave 1 (N=3481) and to the sample for which observational measures were planned at Wave 2 (N=1510), respectively.

Not all cases in which parents consented in participating in the habituation-dishabituation tasks could be realized. This dropout was due to child-related reasons, namely that the child was unfit to participate at the moment, or due to external reasons. At Wave 1, there were video recordings of N=2945 (94.12%) children, whereas at Wave 2, there were video recordings of N=1315 (88.61%). However, not all of these video recordings could be validly coded, for example, due to multiple and/or severe disturbances during the observation.

⁴ The current version of the Scientific Use File (Release 9.1.0) only includes data on the first habituation-dishabituation task at Wave 1 (Task A) and Wave 2 (Task C), respectively. Data of all other tasks were coded and processed under another grant (Project ViVA at the University of Bamberg) and will be added in future data releases. "ViVA: Video-based Validity Analyses of Measures of Early Childhood Competencies and Home Learning Environment" – project funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) within the priority programme 1646 (grant to Sabine Weinert; WE 1478/7-1; WE 1478/7-2). We thank Jan-David Freund for his contribution to the project and the coding.

Disturbances that occurred while the tasks were administered were typically not child-related (see also Table 22), but rather due to external factors (e.g., lighting condition, distracting noises, parental interference, interviewer error). Table 2 reports an overview of the codability of the videos; looking time data for cases with multiple and/or severe disturbances were not released in the Scientific Use File. In most tasks, a large percentage of the children participated with no external disturbances or distractions. Given the household setting with limited standardization, this was deemed adequate. Detailed information on the types of disturbances is reported in Table 22.

Table 2

	Not evaluable (multiple/severe disturbances)	At least one problem	No disturbances or distractions	No information available
Task A	467 (14.92%)	365 (11.67%)	2195 (70.15%)	102 (3.26%)
Task B	504 (16.00%)	309 (9.88%)	2178 (69.61%)	138 (4.41%)
Task C	231 (15.57%)	399 (26.88%)	820 (55.26%)	34 (2.29%)
Task D	231 (15.57%)	269 (18.12%)	946 (63.75%)	38 (2.56%)
Task E	328 (22.10%)	280 (18.87%)	838 (56.47%)	38 (2.56%)

Video Codability Rating of the Habituation-Dishabituation Tasks

Note. Percentages refer to the samples with informed consent at Wave 1 (N=3129) and at Wave 2 (N=1484), respectively. The category "no information available" refers to videos that could not be coded although no specific details regarding potential disturbances were reported; for these cases, no looking time data is available. The categories "not evaluable" and "multiple/severe disturbances" were collapsed because both ratings resulted in the data not being released. Task A – Task B were administered at Wave 1; Task C – Task E were administered at Wave 2. Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

3.2 Describing the data

For each trial or presented stimulus picture, a number of variables was coded that are available in the public Scientific Use File: Maximum, minimum, mean, total fixation time, and number of fixations on target, as well as off target. This section gives a descriptive overview of total fixation times on target for all habituation-dishabituation tasks, as these have been found to be most stable and reliable (Kavšek, 2004a). Each table reports data for all cases without missing values in the respective task. An explanation of the naming conventions for the reported items in the public Scientific Use File can be found in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Naming conventions of the reported items on the children's accumulated looking times on target illustrated for the first trial of Task A (Wave 1).

The following descriptive overview features common measures of statistical dispersion to gain insight into the overall distribution of children's total fixation times in all tasks. Skewness indicates whether a distribution is symmetrical and kurtosis is the degree of tail extremity. Values of skewness between 0.5-1 are considered moderately skewed, while values above as substantially skewed (Hair et al., 2014). Values of kurtosis represent either a mesokurtic distribution (=0), a platykurtic distribution (<0) or a leptokurtic distribution (>0). However, as skewness and kurtosis depend heavily on the sample size (Westfall, 2014), these measures are reported as additional information only and not further interpreted.

Table 3 – Table 7 report details on total fixation times, namely the accumulated sum of looking time on target for all trials in each task. Distributions for all trials revealed that longer looking times were more frequent. This is also reflected by the median and the mode. However, comparably many children did not look at the target stimulus at all. The differences in maximum value between 10.03 seconds and 10.07 seconds reflect technical aspects of the coding procedure.

Variable	Μ	SD	Median	Mode	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
		50						
hdn1ah1t_s	6.68	2.34	7.00	10.03	0	10.03	-0.65	2.91
hdn1ah2t_s	6.09	2.60	6.41	10.03	0	10.03	-0.45	2.45
hdn1ah3t_s	6.20	2.60	6.60	10.03	0	10.03	-0.53	2.49
hdn1ah4t_s	6.10	2.60	6.44	10.03	0	10.03	-0.46	2.45
hdn1ah5t_s	5.98	2.67	6.30	10.03	0	10.03	-0.40	2.32
hdn1ah6t_s	5.91	2.73	6.23	10.03	0	10.03	-0.39	2.27
hdn1ah7t_s	5.86	2.66	6.07	10.03	0	10.03	-0.34	2.28
hdn1ah8t_s	6.05	2.69	6.40	10.03	0	10.03	-0.45	2.31
hdn1ah9t_s	5.70	2.68	5.97	10.03	0	10.03	-0.32	2.24
hdn1a11t_s	6.18	2.55	6.57	10.03	0	10.03	-0.61	2.74
hdn1a12t_s	5.43	2.57	5.60	0	0	10.03	-0.24	2.30
hdn1a21t_s	5.92	2.54	6.23	0	0	10.03	-0.46	2.48
hdn1a22t_s	5.11	2.56	5.17	0	0	10.03	-0.10	2.27

Task A: Descriptive Information on Looking Times in all Trials

Note. N=2506; in seconds. Task A refers to the first domain-general habituation-dishabituation task at Wave 1. The variable names correspond to the official data release in the Scientific Use File.

Variable ⁵	М	SD	Median	Mode	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
hdn1bh1t_s	7.68	2.21	8.23	10.03	0	10.03	-1.07	3.75
hdn1bh2t_s	7.33	2.37	7.83	10.03	0	10.03	-1.04	3.67
hdn1bh3t_s	6.73	2.52	7.10	10.03	0	10.03	-0.66	2.76
hdn1bh4t_s	6.79	2.63	7.27	10.03	0	10.03	-0.76	2.85
hdn1bh5t_s	6.54	2.62	6.90	10.03	0	10.03	-0.59	2.60
hdn1bh6t_s	6.28	2.67	6.53	10.03	0	10.03	-0.51	2.52
hdn1bh7t_s	6.21	2.75	6.53	10.03	0	10.03	-0.49	2.37
hdn1bh8t_s	6.23	2.69	6.60	10.03	0	10.03	-0.51	2.45
hdn1bh9t_s	6.20	2.69	6.50	10.03	0	10.03	-0.51	2.47
hdn1b11t_s	5.79	2.73	6.00	10.03	0	10.03	-0.29	2.19
hdn1b12t_s	5.41	2.69	5.50	10.03	0	10.03	-0.16	2.22
hdn1b21t_s	5.35	2.67	5.53	0	0	10.03	-0.27	2.29
hdn1b22t_s	4.40	2.51	4.30	0	0	10.03	0.16	2.35

Task B: Descriptive Information on Looking Times in all Trials

Note. N=2478; in seconds. Task B refers to the second domain-general habituation-dishabituation task at Wave 1. The variable names are preliminary.

⁵ The current version of the public Scientific Use File (Release 9.1.0) does not include data of Task B, Task D, and Task E. Data of these tasks was processed under a different grant and will be added in future versions of the data set. The variable names reported in Table 4, Table 6, and Table 7 are therefore preliminary.

Variable	М	SD	Median	Mode	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
hdn2ch1t_s	8.23	1.85	8.63	10.03	0	10.03	-1.23	4.49
hdn2ch2t_s	8.12	1.86	8.63	10.03	0	10.03	-1.32	4.89
hdn2ch3t_s	7.99	1.99	8.50	10.03	0	10.03	-1.21	4.21
hdn2ch4t_s	8.04	2.02	8.53	10.03	0	10.03	-1.35	4.76
hdn2ch5t_s	7.68	2.15	8.13	10.03	0	10.03	-1.05	3.76
hdn2ch6t_s	7.56	2.23	8.03	10.03	0	10.03	-1.08	4.02
hdn2ch7t_s	7.48	2.27	7.93	10.03	0	10.03	-0.98	3.59
hdn2ch8t_s	7.46	2.30	7.97	10.03	0	10.03	-0.94	3.36
hdn2ch9t_s	7.48	2.32	7.97	10.03	0	10.03	-0.98	3.48
hdn2c11t_s	7.58	2.23	8.03	10.03	0	10.03	-1.02	3.79
hdn2c12t_s	6.87	2.43	7.20	10.07	0	10.07	-0.62	2.65
hdn2c21t_s	7.24	2.26	7.70	10.03	0	10.03	-0.79	3.13
hdn2c22t_s	6.00	2.50	6.13	10.07	0	10.07	-0.18	2.20

Task C: Descriptive Information on Looking Times in all Trials

Note. N=1131; in seconds. Task D refers to the first domain-general habituation-dishabituation task at Wave 2. The variable names correspond to the official data release in the Scientific Use File.

Table 6

Task D: Descriptive Information on Looking Times in all Trials

Variable ⁴	Μ	SD	Median	Mode	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
hdn2dh1t_s	8.53	2.14	9.47	10.03	0	10.03	-1.76	5.80
hdn2dh2t_s	7.64	2.35	8.30	10.03	0	10.03	-0.98	3.24
hdn2dh3t_s	7.39	2.46	8.10	10.03	0	10.03	-0.93	3.08
hdn2dh4t_s	6.91	2.61	7.43	10.03	0	10.03	-0.64	2.47
hdn2d11t_s	6.92	2.77	7.60	10.03	0	10.03	-0.65	2.33
hdn2d12t_s	6.29	2.79	6.60	10.03	0	10.03	-0.42	2.21
hdn2d21t_s	7.18	2.40	7.67	10.03	0	10.03	-0.90	3.31
hdn2d22t_s	5.92	2.65	5.93	10.07	0	10.07	-0.19	2.21

Note. N=1167; in seconds. Task D refers to the domain-specific numerical habituation-dishabituation task at Wave 2. The variable names are preliminary.

Variable ⁴	М	SD	Median	Mode	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
hdn2eh1t_s	8.67	1.60	9.15	10.07	0	10.07	-1.39	5.25
hdn2eh2t_s	7.99	1.99	8.47	10.03	0	10.03	-1.18	4.26
hdn2eh3t_s	7.80	2.14	8.30	10.03	0	10.03	-1.01	3.39
hdn2eh4t_s	7.23	2.26	7.57	10.03	0	10.03	-0.80	3.13
hdn2eh5t_s	7.25	2.33	7.63	10.03	0	10.03	-0.71	2.87
hdn2eh6t_s	7.36	2.34	7.89	10.03	0	10.03	-0.91	3.28
hdn2eh7t_s	6.92	2.58	7.37	10.03	0	10.03	-0.72	2.73
hdn2eh8t_s	6.56	2.61	6.87	10.03	0	10.03	-0.54	2.44
hdn2eh9t_s	6.46	2.63	6.63	10.03	0	10.03	-0.48	2.36
hdn2e11t_s	6.83	2.60	7.27	10.03	0	10.03	-0.73	2.80
hdn2e12t_s	6.18	2.76	6.37	10.03	0	10.03	-0.37	2.22
hdn2e21t_s	6.99	2.56	7.45	10.07	0	10.07	-0.74	2.87
hdn2e22t_s	6.01	2.67	6.17	10.00	0	10.00	-0.29	2.22

Task E: Descriptive Information on Looking Times in all Trials

Note. N=1112; in seconds. Task E refers to the domain-specific word-learning habituation-dishabituation task at Wave 2. The variable names are preliminary.

4. Approaches to interpreting the data

In this section, frequently used approaches and measures to interpreting fixation times are discussed and applied to the data from the habituation-dishabituation tasks administered in NEPS SC1. There are two general approaches to interpreting interindividual performance differences in habituation-dishabituation tasks: (I) Calculating index measures of habituation and dishabituation and (II) grouping infants with comparable looking time patterns (data reduction). Most studies use the former approach and there is a number of useful established measures (Colombo et al., 1987; Kavšek, 2004a). The latter approach reduces data by creating groups or profiles based on comparable looking time patterns (McCall, 1979). For the following results, data for all children with no missing values for the respective task was used. The calculations used accumulated looking times, namely the sum of individual fixation times at each trial, with no cut-off criteria applied.

Regarding index measures of habituation and dishabituation, the approaches will be documented in the following way: (I) We provide a general descriptive overview of each measure; (II) we report correlative associations of the measure between all tasks as well as with the children's age; (III) we discuss advantages and disadvantages of the approach in the context of NEPS SC1. Regarding looking time patterns (data reduction), we first discuss cluster analysis and latent profile analysis before illustrating the latter method with NEPS SC1 data, and finally we discuss advantages and disadvantages of the approach.

For testing associations between continuous variables, we chose Pearson correlation. For comparing measures between dichotomous groups, unequal variance t-tests or Welch tests

were chosen, as such tests have been shown to be more robust than classic t-tests (Delacre et al., 2017; Ruxton, 2006). Regarding habituation slope, we used growth curve modeling (Duncan & Duncan, 2004). Finally, for findings groups of children with comparable looking time patterns, we used latent profile analysis (Nylund-Gibson & Choi, 2018). Calculations were done in STATA© release 16 (StataCorp, 2019).

4.1 Measures of habituation and dishabituation

Regarding habituation, Kavšek (2004a) provides an overview of commonly used measures for interpreting children's looking times during the habituation phase. Due to the experimental design, stimulus material, and available data, we selected the following measures for the present report: Total fixation time (TFT) and habituation strength (STR) (Colombo et al., 1987). In addition, we selected a dichotomous criterion that indicates whether the child showed a typically expected attention decrement during the habituation phase, namely 50% during the course of habituation trials compared to the initial looking times (HAB) (Fennell, 2012). Finally, habituation slope modeling is introduced as a means to estimate children's attention decrement independent of their overall attention level.

Kavšek (2004a) also provides various measures of dishabituation. However, as NEPS SC1 used a fixed-trial design, only attention recovery (ATR) can be used. The measure indicates the difference in looking times at the transition to the dishabituation phase and uses the last habituation and the first dishabituation trial. Comparable measures sometimes use more than one habituation trial to gain a more robust measure (Oakes, 2010). As we expected relatively high looking times due to the categorical stimulus material and because using only the first dishabituation trial was shown to be the most robust (Kavšek, 2004a), we opted for the present approach.

Habituation: Total fixation time (TFT)

TFT is a measure of accumulated looking time on target during all trials (stimulus pictures) of the habituation phase. Prolonged looking is typically associated with a small attention decrement, which is why higher values are usually interpreted as poor information processing. For the descriptive analysis, we included all cases with no missing values in the respective task. As the total number of habituation trials in Task D was lower than in the other Tasks, TFT is also lower. Table 8 shows that for all tasks, TFT was generally high, as all distributions are left-skewed. Correlations show that TFT of tasks in the same wave tended to have higher coefficients than between the two waves (Table 9). This was expected, as the age range was relatively high at both waves (**3.1 Data base information**).

Although the literature generally focuses on the decrement in looking times during the habituation phase, in the present data, there are many children with long fixation times (see Table 3 – Table 7). Consequently, children with such looking time patterns deviate from typical habituation responses, which also influences other measures such as STR or HAB. In addition, the present sample had the longest looking times for the stimulus material at Wave 2 and TFT only correlated positively with children's age in Task A (Table 9). This was not expected, as older children typically show shorter TFT when compared to younger children (Colombo et al., 2004). However, as laboratory studies usually focus on infants during the first year of life, there are limited findings regarding the development of looking time patterns in the second year of life. Thus, it could be that interindividual age-related differences are substantially

smaller in toddlers. It is therefore reasonable to examine children's TFT during the habituation phase in more detail, as it could reflect children's general or sustained attention (Dixon & Smith, 2008).

As an indicator of cognitive functioning, TFT is a convenient measure that can be easily calculated. Previous studies have often used this measure and, compared to other measures, it was found to be robust (Kavšek, 2004a), as it is not as much influenced by local maxima or missing values. In addition, TFT can be interpreted as the amount of overall attention to the stimuli (Ruff, 1986). However, the interpretation of summed up looking times is complex (Oakes et al., 1991). The tasks in NEPS SC1 differed in stimulus material, method, and duration, which is why one cannot expect all tasks to be uniformly related to each other, as well as with later skills or competencies.

Table 8

Variable	Ν	Μ	SD	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
TFT_A	2506	54.59	18.61	1.80	90.27	-0.47	2.65
TFT_B	2474	59.97	16.88	3.40	90.27	-0.63	2.97
TFT_C	1131	70.04	12.66	12.60	90.27	-1.07	4.41
TFT_D	1166	30.46	7.29	1.80	40.16	-1.00	3.59
TFT_E	1112	66.24	13.72	13.03	90.31	-0.65	3.17

Descriptive Overview of Total Fixation Time (TFT) in All Tasks.

Note. Only cases with no missing data in the respective task reported; in seconds. TFT refers to the total fixation time during the habituation phase of the respective tasks at Wave 1 (Task A – Task B) and Wave 2 (Task C – Task E). Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

Table 9

Pearson Correlations of Total Fixation Time (TFT) and Children's Age in All Tasks

	TFT_A	TFT_B	TFT_C	TFT_D	TFT_E
TFT_B	.39**				
TFT_C	.09**	.10**			
TFT_D	.01	.04	.29**		
TFT_E	.03	.05	.32**	.51**	
Children's age	.17**	02	05	.03	.02

Note. ** p<.01. TFT refers to the total fixation time during the habituation phase of the respective tasks at Wave 1 (Task A – Task B) and Wave 2 (Task C – Task E). Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

Habituation: Habituation strength (STR)

STR is a measure of difference between a defined number of trials at the beginning (i.e., fixation baseline) and at the end of the habituation phase (e.g., Domsch et al., 2009; Pahnke, 2007). Positive values indicate that fixation times at the beginning were longer than at the end of the habituation phase, suggesting a typical pattern of looking time decrement. Conversely, negative values indicate that fixation times at the end were longer than at the beginning of the habituation phase, suggesting an atypical looking time pattern. Consequently, positive values should point to efficient stimulus encoding and, thus, good information processing.

Typically, two or three trials are combined to generate robust measures, namely to minimize measurement error (Oakes, 2010). However, there are several reasons why we only used the first and last trial for the present report. For one, the children's looking times at the categorical stimulus material were generally high, which limits variance of STR. In addition, the fixed-trial design resulted in the longest looking times at the first trial of the habituation phase and the shortest looking times at the last trial of the habituation phase. Thus, interindividual differences in looking times should be the most pronounced when considering only these trials. Finally, including more trials would have resulted in limited comparability of Task D with the other tasks, as it featured considerably less trials.

Table 10 shows that for all tasks mean values were sharply peaked. Thus, most values were centered on the empirical mean, which limits variance and, thus, discriminatory ability of the measure between the children. This was probably because many children consistently showed long fixation times during the habituation phase (see Table 3 – Table 7). STR was mostly correlated within each wave, although correlation coefficients were generally small (Table 11). In addition, there were no significant correlations between children's age and STR. Although this was not expected, it can probably be reasoned that the measure does not accompany age differences as well as for example TFT, as it only indicates the relation of fixation times. Thus, any decremental pattern may result in positive values, regardless of the overall visual attention.

Overall, STR is a convenient measure that can be easily calculated and has been used in several previous studies (Attig & Weinert, 2018; Lavoie & Desrochers, 2002; Mayes & Kessen, 1989; Domsch et al., 2009). Still, although there are certain caveats when applying the measure to the data of NEPS SC1. There is no consensus on how many trials to consider when calculating habituation strength. If several trials are considered, variance can decrease and if too few trials are considered, local maxima or minima can bias the results, especially because the tasks in NEPS SC1 used categorical stimuli, which might elicit spontaneous dishabituation. In addition, the present results highlight that intercorrelations were low, which means that task comparability is limited when using STR.

Variable	Ν	Μ	SD	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
STR_A	2506	0.11	0.31	-1.00	1.00	0.25	4.99
STR_B	2476	0.14	0.30	-1.00	1.00	0.46	5.60
STR_C	1131	0.06	0.22	-1.00	1.00	0.88	7.46
STR_D	1167	0.12	0.25	-1.00	1.00	0.20	6.57
STR_E	1112	0.18	0.25	-1.00	1.00	0.79	4.91

Descriptive Overview of Habituation Strength (STR) in All Tasks

Note. Only cases with no missing data in the respective task reported. STR refers to the habituation strength during the habituation phase of the respective tasks at Wave 1 (Task A – Task B) and Wave 2 (Task C – Task E). Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

Table 11

Pearson Correlations of Habituation Strength (STR) and Children's Age in All Tasks

	STR_A	STR_B	STR_C	STR_D	STR_E
STR_B	.13**				
STR_C	.09*	.05			
STR_D	.08*	03	.09*		
STR_E	.01	.05	.11**	.17**	
Children's age	02	.01	-02	01	05

Note. * p<.05, ** p<.01. STR refers to the habituation strength during the habituation phase of the respective tasks at Wave 1 (Task A – Task B) and Wave 2 (Task C – Task E). Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

Habituation: Habituation criterion (HAB)

For habituation-dishabituation tasks, the decrement during the habituation phase is often measured in a categorical way, namely whether the child reached a pre-defined decrement (e.g., a 50% decrease during the habituation phase, when compared to the initial looking time). Usually, a dichotomous indicator is used for either comparing habituators and non-habituators (e.g., Baillargeon, 1987; McCall, 1979) or the number of trials to reach the criterion (e.g., Dixon & Smith, 2008; Monroy et al., 2019). Conceptually, this measure is used to approximate whether the child habituated during the habituation phase, namely whether the child formed a mental representation of the stimulus material. Consequently, habituators compared to non-habituators are expected to process information faster (particularly in fixed-trial designs), and the measure was shown to predict cognitive skills later in development (Kavšek, 2013). It should be noted that habituation criteria are typically only dichotomous approximations of the looking time decrement during the habituation phase and cognitive theories suggest that the decrement indicates the formation of a mental representation **(Habituation: Habituation slope modelling)**.

For the present analysis of NEPS SC1, a cut-off criterion of 50% was used (Cohen, 2004; Fennell, 2012), which means that only children who had a decrement of at least 50% fixation

time during the habituation phase in comparison to the initial looking time were seen as successful habituators. Because of the categorical stimulus material, we expected a high amount of non-habituators (Fennell, 2012; Siddle & Glenn, 1974; Slater et al., 1984).

Overall, between 27.59% and 48.29% of all children habituated in the tasks (Table 12). This is at the lower range of typical findings, as usually at least half of the sample habituate in comparable tasks (e.g., McCall, 1979). In addition, it is held that the habituation rate decreases with increasing age of the child, for example, due to maturational changes (Clifton & Nelson, 1976) or increasing experience. Thus, the findings regarding Task B and Task C seem counterintuitive, as both use the same stimulus material. Moreover, HAB was only significantly associated with children's age at Wave 1 (Table 13) - note that the reported results do not control for preterm birth status (5.3 Child characteristics). However, HAB is seldom reported in toddlers during the second year of life. It could be that the longer fixation time – and consequently smaller decrements – at Wave 2 were due to qualitative changes in attentional processes. Thus, the comparison between habituators and non-habituators should only be drawn for Wave 1. Still, this does not account for the negative association between children's age and having habituated in Task B. Here, the task could have been too complex for this age group, which is why HAB might primarily indicate effects of fatigue in younger children. Regarding the low number of habituators in Task D, it could be reasoned that the short habituation phase (i.e., four trials) resulted in familiarization (Aslin, 2007), namely only a weak decrease in looking times.

HAB is an often-used measure of decrement in fixation times during the habituation phase (Cohen, 2004; Fennell, 2012; Oakes, 2010). As both the beginning and the end of the habituation phase are included, the measure also indicates interindividual differences in habituation patterns, although fixed-trial designs might underestimate slow habituating children (DeLoache, 1976). Some authors also suggest that only habituators should be considered in further calculations (Cohen, 2004; Oakes, 2010), even though this might exclude a large number of children and probably bias the sample. In addition, while a 50% decrement is generally regarded sufficient, other cut-off values are also used (Fennell, 2012). Thus, it depends on the research question whether to focus on this measure, although it should usually be calculated for means of comparison. In the context of NEPS SC1, subgroups of interest should be checked before formal analyses due to the age range of the children and the categorical stimulus material.

	Total Sample	Habituators	
Task A	2506	1131 (45.13%)	
Task B	2476	1193 (48.18%)	
Task C	1131	341 (30.15%)	
Task D	1167	322 (27.59%)	
Task E	1112	537 (48.29%)	

Descriptive Overview of Habituated Children in All Tasks

Note. Only cases with no missing data in the respective task reported. Task A – Task B were administered at Wave 1; Task C – Task E were administered at Wave 2. Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

Table 13

Children's Age in the Groups of Habituators and Non-Habituators

	Habituators		Non-Habituators				
	М	SD	М	SD	df	t	d
Task A: Children's age	6.89	0.71	7.02	0.71	2422.09	4.45**	0.18
Task B: Children's age	7.00	0.75	6.93	0.66	2393.17	-2.48*	0.10
Task C: Children's age	17.10	0.59	17.02	0.62	663.67	-1.95	0.12
Task D: Children's age	17.03	0.64	17.05	0.59	537.71	0.47	0.03
Task E: Children's age	17.07	0.61	17.04	0.60	1089.87	-0.59	0.04

Note. Children's age reported in months; **p<.01, *p<.05. Task A and Task B were administered at Wave 1; Task C – Task E were administered at Wave 2. Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

Habituation: Habituation slope modeling

Another method to gain insight into children's habituation is to use modeling techniques to estimate a habituation slope. Because cognitive theories hold that the decrement in looking times during the habituation phase indicates the formation of a mental representation of the stimulus material (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009; Kavšek, 2013), habituation slopes should indicate the speed of information processing more directly than other measures. While linear regression models have been used in previous studies (e.g., Ashmead & Davis, 1996), growth curve modeling is a more elaborated way to estimate "interindividual variability in intra-individual patterns of change" (Curran et al., 2010, p. 2). More specifically regarding infant visual habituation-dishabituation tasks, growth curve modeling can be used to estimate differences between the children in intraindividual change across trials. Due to the distinction between fixed (i.e., overall trajectory mean of the sample) and random effects (i.e., individual variables that are predicted by the manifest looking times for each trial. For the intercept, fixed factor loadings can be used, while for the slope, the factor loadings can parallel the sequence of

stimulus presentation. One example is Monroy and colleagues' (2019) study on visual habituation in deaf children. The authors used growth curve modeling for calculating the growth slope during the first four trials of the habituation phase to examine differences in early language skills between deaf and hearing infants. The slopes were found to be linear for hearing infants, whereas those of deaf infants were fluctuating.

To illustrate this approach with NEPS SC1 data, we calculated unconditional growth models for both tasks at Wave 1 (Table 14). NEPS SC1 has the advantage that due to the fixed-trial design, the children can be compared directly using habituation slope modeling. For Task A and Task B, we included looking times for all nine trials of the habituation phase and calculated models with random intercepts and random slopes (with linear and quadratic growth). In all models, intercept and slope were allowed to correlate with each other as initial looking and looking decrement are typically associated with each other (e.g., Colombo & Mitchell, 2009). Indeed, we found significant correlations between the intercept and slope in most models (Task A Model 1: r=-.26, p<.01; Task A Model 2: r=-.17, p<.01; Task B Model 1: r=-.13, p<.01; Task B Model 2: r=-.07, p=.07). Estimating a linear and quadratic slope simultaneously resulted in the model not reaching convergence in both tasks. Comparing the models using standard goodness of fit statistics tentatively reveals that for both tasks, a linear growth model fits the data best, although these calculations should not be interpreted as comprehensive because no other variables were controlled for. When applying growth curve modeling to habituation data, individual child characteristics as well as characteristics of the stimulus material should be checked.

One advantage of this approach is that missing data in growth curve modeling can be dealt with by multiple imputation (Duncan et al., 1998) or a Full Information Maximum Likelihood approach (FIML; Acock, 2005; Enders, 2001). In addition to comparing model goodness of fit statistics for linear and polynomial models, factor loadings can be customized to parallel the experimental design. In addition, growth curves can be used to study group differences (e.g., Monroy et al., 2019). Studies on non-linear modeling or polynomial modeling (e.g., Lavoie & Desrochers, 2002) of habituation found that model-based approaches that analyze the intercept and slope of children's looking times separately tend to perform better than the typical habituation criterion. This approach allows for a more fine-grained categorization of whether infants show a systematic decrease during the habituation phase, as well as an increased sensitivity for detecting an increase in the dishabituation phase (Dahlin, 2004; Thomas & Gilmore, 2004). In other words, growth curve modeling allows for estimating the habituation slope, which may be analyzed independent from the overall looking time (i.e., intercept).

However, growth curve modeling is still not frequently used in visual habituation research, probably because it needs a large sample size. Depending on the research design, Curran and colleagues (2010) recommend at least 100 cases (and more for increasingly complex designs). It should be noted, however, that with mixed effects models that effectively also represent estimates of latent growth, sample sizes need not be large (McNeish & Matta, 2018). In addition, estimations are difficult to compare when children's looking time trajectories differ (e.g., linear vs. quadratic) and nearly impossible when the sequence of trials differs, like in many infant-controlled designs. Including many trials in a model also increases complexity, which is why Monroy and colleagues (2019) only used the first four trials because those were the only trials in the infant-controlled design for which all children had valid looking time data.

However, one possible solution is using random-effects pattern-mixture modeling (Hogan & Laird, 1997), which allows for varying lengths in longitudinal data (Young & Hunter, 2015).

Table 14

Exemplary Comparison of Latent Growth Models (Wave 1)

Model	Change function	χ2	df	CFI	SRMR	RMSEA	AIC / BIC
Task A Model 1	Linear	418.65**	33	.97	.07	.07	95942.58 / 96065.37
Task A Model 2	Quadratic	537.39**	33	.97	.08	.08	96061.33 / 96184.12
Task B Model 1	Linear	330.54**	33	.97	.06	.06	96543.30 / 96665.47
Task B Model 2	Quadratic	407.87**	33	.96	.08	.07	96620.63 / 96742.80

Note. CFI = comparative fit index; SRMR = standardized root mean square residual; RMSEA = root mean square error of approximation; AIC = Akaike information criterion; BIC = Bayesian information criterion; * p<0.05. ** p<.01. Task A and Task B refer to the domain-general categorization tasks at Wave 1.

Dishabituation: Attention recovery (ATR)

In NEPS SC1, the stimulus material only featured one picture in the dishabituation phase. Therefore, the orientation response of the children refers to the concept of ATR (Kavšek & Bornstein, 2010). ATR is usually defined as the difference between the fixation times at the first dishabituation and the last habituation trial. Theoretically, the children should show ATR if they perceive the stimulus picture as novel or out of category. Positive values indicate that fixation time at the dishabituation trial was higher than at the last habituation trial, suggesting a typical pattern of renewed attention towards the novel stimulus. Conversely, negative values indicate that fixation trial, suggesting that the children perceived the dishabituation trial as familiar. Consequently, positive values should point to good discriminatory abilities and, thus, good attention recovery.

Table 15 shows that for all tasks, mean values of ATR were centered and evenly distributed (overall sample). Still, the high variance suggests that while some children perceived the dishabituation trial as novel and showed positive ATR (novelty effect), others perceived the dishabituation trial as familiar and showed negative ATR (familiarity effect). Thus, for the overall sample, the measure might not be informative, as these two subgroups are collapsed. This is supported by the low intercorrelations of the measure in all tasks (Table 16), although it should be noted that previous studies also found no consistent reliability in dishabituation measures (Colombo et al., 1987; Kavšek, 2004a). In addition, we also tested whether ATR was associated with children's age. Against our expectations, there were no significant correlations between ATR and children's age.

Because it is held that habituated children show attention recovery (novelty effect) while nonhabituated children show attention decrement (familiarity effect), we used HAB to differentiate between habituators and non-habituators (Table 17). Thus, we used the measure to analyze the looking times for the last habituation trial and the first dishabituation trial between these two groups. T-tests yielded consistent results: In most tasks, habituators showed significantly longer looking times at the novel stimulus (novelty effect), whereas nonhabituators had stable or significantly shorter looking times (familiarity effect). These results suggest that habituators and non-habituators show generally typical looking time patterns, which is relevant when working with ATR.

ATR is an informative measure of the children's dishabituation reaction in tasks with a dishabituation phase consisting of individually presented out-of-category exemplars. It allows for assessing the children's behavioral response to a change in stimulus material (Kavšek, 2013; Rose et al., 2004). Even if only one dishabituation trial is considered, as in the case of NEPS SC1, the measure should adequately model interindividual differences in fixation time (Kavšek, 2004a). Still, children's response to the dishabituation phase critically depends on the previous habituation phase as was shown in the present analyses. Still, it should be critically noted that dishabituation measures were generally shown to have no consistent reliability (Colombo et al., 1987; Kavšek, 2004a) and associations between the habituation phase and the dishabituation reaction are probably more complex than often assumed (Jerome et al., 1979). Overall, it depends on the research question and relevant sample (e.g., Kavšek & Bornstein, 2010) whether to focus on ATR when analyzing NEPS SC1 and the measure should always also consider children's habituation.

Table 15

Ν	Μ	SD	Min	Max	Skewness	Kurtosis
2506	0.48	2.35	-10.03	10.03	0.03	3.89
2476	-0.41	2.62	-10.03	10.03	0.07	3.58
1131	0.10	2.48	-8.57	9.93	0.31	4.37
1167	0.01	2.93	-9.27	9.63	-0.12	3.16
1112	0.36	2.57	-9.80	9.10	0.10	3.60
	2506 2476 1131 1167	25060.482476-0.4111310.1011670.01	25060.482.352476-0.412.6211310.102.4811670.012.93	25060.482.35-10.032476-0.412.62-10.0311310.102.48-8.5711670.012.93-9.27	25060.482.35-10.0310.032476-0.412.62-10.0310.0311310.102.48-8.579.9311670.012.93-9.279.63	25060.482.35-10.0310.030.032476-0.412.62-10.0310.030.0711310.102.48-8.579.930.3111670.012.93-9.279.63-0.12

Descriptive Overview of Attention Recovery (ATR) in All Tasks

Note. Only cases with no missing data in the respective task reported. ATR refers to the attention recovery during the dishabituation phase of the respective tasks at Wave 1 (Task A – Task B) and Wave 2 (Task C – Task E). Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

	ATR_A	ATR_B	ATR_C	ATR_D	ATR_E
ATR_B	-0.04				
ATR_C	-0.04	.00			
ATR_D	0.01	-0.01	0.00		
ATR_E	-0.01	0.08*	0.08*	0.02	
Children's age	.03	01	.01	.01	02

Pearson Correlations of Attention Recovery (ATR) in All Tasks

Note. * p<.05. ATR refers to the attention recovery during the dishabituation phase of the respective tasks at Wave 1 (Task A – Task B) and Wave 2 (Task C – Task E). Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material.

Table 17

Looking Times in Habituators and Non-habituators

	· · · · ·	19 T	rial 10				
	Μ	SD	Μ	SD	df	t	d
Habituators	4.10	2.57	5.13	2.70	1391	-13.49**	0.39
Non-habituators	6.98	2.00	7.01	2.08	1163	-0.60	0.02
Habituators	4.85	2.75	4.73	2.68	1193	1.46	0.04
Non-habituators	7.45	1.9	6.77	2.39	1288	10.60**	0.31
Habituators	5.87	2.81	6.45	2.68	380	-3.51**	0.21
Non-habituators	8.07	1.76	7.89	2.00	837	2.42*	0.09
Habituators	4.46	2.57	5.48	2.95	339	-5.51**	0.37
Non-habituators	7.81	1.94	7.40	2.54	875	4.65**	0.18
Habituators	5.09	2.70	5.79	2.73	539	-5.57**	0.25
Non-habituators	7.73	1.81	7.80	2.03	574	-0.71	0.03
	Non-habituators Habituators Non-habituators Habituators Non-habituators Habituators Non-habituators Habituators	Habituators4.10Non-habituators6.98Habituators4.85Non-habituators7.45Habituators5.87Non-habituators8.07Habituators4.46Non-habituators7.81Habituators5.09	Habituators4.102.57Non-habituators6.982.00Habituators4.852.75Non-habituators7.451.9Habituators5.872.81Non-habituators8.071.76Habituators4.462.57Non-habituators7.811.94Habituators5.092.70	Habituators4.102.575.13Non-habituators6.982.007.01Habituators4.852.754.73Non-habituators7.451.96.77Habituators5.872.816.45Non-habituators8.071.767.89Habituators4.462.575.48Non-habituators7.811.947.40Habituators5.092.705.79	Habituators4.102.575.132.70Non-habituators6.982.007.012.08Habituators4.852.754.732.68Non-habituators7.451.96.772.39Habituators5.872.816.452.68Non-habituators8.071.767.892.00Habituators4.462.575.482.95Non-habituators7.811.947.402.54Habituators5.092.705.792.73	Habituators4.102.575.132.701391Non-habituators6.982.007.012.081163Habituators4.852.754.732.681193Non-habituators7.451.96.772.391288Habituators5.872.816.452.68380Non-habituators8.071.767.892.00837Habituators4.462.575.482.95339Non-habituators7.811.947.402.54875Habituators5.092.705.792.73539	Habituators4.102.575.132.701391-13.49**Non-habituators6.982.007.012.081163-0.60Habituators4.852.754.732.6811931.46Non-habituators7.451.96.772.39128810.60**Habituators5.872.816.452.68380-3.51**Non-habituators8.071.767.892.008372.42*Habituators4.462.575.482.95339-5.51**Non-habituators7.811.947.402.548754.65**Habituators5.092.705.792.73539-5.57**

Note. Children's looking times reported in seconds; ** p<.01, * p<.05. Task A and Task B were administered at Wave 1; Task C – Task E were administered at Wave 2. Task B and Task C featured the same stimulus material. Trial 9 was the last trial of the habituation phase, whereas Trial 10 was the first dishabituation trial.

4.2 Data reduction methods

Apart from using index measures that are calculated by using the looking times of each respective trial to interpret individual task performance, there are several studies that use data reduction methods to create groups that can be compared regarding differential developmental patterns (Bronson, 1991; Richards & Cameron, 1989). In previous research, McCall (1979) found age-related differences in the habituation phase when using cluster analysis as a data reduction method. Infants at 5 months were clustered into three groups (i.e., monotonically decrease; decrease-increase; increase) and infants at 10 months were clustered into five groups, that were generally flatter and more mixed. Another use of cluster

analysis can be found in Baillargeon (1987), who found three groups in a sample of 3-4 monthold-infants (i.e., fast habituators; slow habituators; mixed group).

Cluster analysis as a data-led method might reveal coherent interindividual looking time patterns, which can be compared to theoretically expected ones. The groups are usually interpreted in a straightforward manner, as the individual looking time at the stimulus material does not have to be analyzed in detail. However, cluster analysis based on observable visual behavior also has drawbacks. It could be shown that the clusters might represent statistical artifacts when the underlying habituation function includes an additive random error. This has a detrimental effect on the estimated expected number of clusters when the patterns between the groups are similar (Gilmore & Thomas, 2002). Additionally, cluster analyses cannot statistically verify the number of groups and therefore assign group number only categorically (Dolnicar, 2002). Some studies, for example, create a group of children with a mixed profile, without explaining what the benefit of such a heterogeneous group is (e.g., Baillargeon, 1987; McCall, 1979). Longitudinally, it is also difficult to find stability, as children's looking time patterns often change – something, that cluster analyses do not automatically reflect (Kavšek, 2004a; McCall, 1979). In addition, for large sample sizes the patterns are much more difficult to interpret because cluster assignment is influenced by group size (Siddiqui, 2013). Finally, although clusters can empirically be found, they may represent statistical artifacts because they underlie the same basic habituation function (Gilmore & Thomas, 2002).

As a possibility to deal with two main statistical issues of cluster analysis, namely that the number of groups cannot be statistically determined and the impact of statistical artifacts on how group membership is assigned, latent profile analysis can be used. Although to the knowledge of the authors, there have been no studies so far that implemented latent profiles in infant habituation research, it should allow for a probabilistic way to assign children to specific groups of looking time patterns and even statistically compare models with different group sizes.

Probabilistic clustering methods are useful for classifying individuals into groups of profiles based on conditional probabilities. With continuous variables (i.e., fixation times) and categorical outcomes (i.e., group membership), probabilistic clustering is often referred to as latent class analysis (Fairley et al., 2014) or latent profile analysis (Dean & Raftery, 2010; Vermunt & Magidson, 2002). Latent profile analysis assumes a statistical model for the population of the current sample and estimates the similarity of the individuals from their observed scores on a set of indicators that share the same probabilistic distributions. Group membership is therefore estimated by the probability of being a member of a latent class and the class-specific normal density (Tein et al., 2013; Vermunt & Magidson, 2002). The posterior group membership assigns the classes to those with the highest similarity of the observed scores and the class-specific normal density (Vermunt & Magidson, 2002). In addition, latent profile analysis allows for incorporating missing data by applying multiple imputation (Duncan et al., 1998) or Full Information Maximum Likelihood (FIML; Acock, 2005; Enders, 2001) (see Fairley et al., 2014). Finally, group sizes can be compared via standard goodness of fit measures (Vermunt & Magidson, 2002), such as AIC, CAIC, BIC/SIC, and sample size adjusted BIC (Nylund et al., 2007). In short, the sequence of habituation or dishabituation trials can be used as manifest variables to estimate latent looking time profiles, based on the looking times of all children in the sample.

To illustrate this approach with NEPS SC1 data, we calculated latent profile analysis for all trials in the habituation phase of Task A. To avoid solutions based on local maxima and to increase robustness of the findings, 100 random sets of starting values were defined. Typically, AIC, BIC, and entropy are used to assess the quality of the respective profile solutions (Celeux & Soromenho, 1996). When comparing the present profile solutions (Table 18), entropy started to fall with the 4-profile solution and with a growing number of classes, profile size also decreases, limiting the interpretation of the results (Tein et al., 2013), so we chose the 3-profile solution, which also matches the number of clusters McCall (1979) found.

Table 18

	AIC	BIC	Entropy	
2 Profiles	98120.09	98283.23	.97	
3 Profiles	95356.42	95577.82	.97	
4 Profiles	94474.98	94754.65	.96	

Selected Solutions of Latent Profile Analysis (Task A)

Note. AIC = Akaike information criterion; BIC = Bayesian information criterion. Task A refers to the first domain-general categorization task at Wave 1.

Table 19 reports descriptive data on children's mean looking times in Task A. For all profiles, fixation times tended to decrease during the habituation phase, although the decrement was smaller than what is typically expected (e.g., Colombo et al., 2004). However, the profiles were markedly different in the initial looking times (i.e., the first trial) as well as in the overall level of looking times (Figure 4). Thus, the profiles do not differ with regard to the decrement in looking times but rather with regard to the overall looking time at the target.

Table 19

Descriptive Overview of Mean Fixation Times in Latent Profiles (Task A)

	Profile 1: M (SD)	Profile 2: M (SD)	Profile 3: M (SD)
hdn1ah1t_s	3.83 (2.08)	6.30 (1.91)	8.02 (1.71)
hdn1ah2t_s	2.56 (1.87)	5.54 (1.95)	7.82 (1.74)
hdn1ah3t_s	2.53 (1.87)	5.57 (1.91)	8.04 (1.56)
hdn1ah4t_s	2.39 (1.72)	5.43 (1.88)	8.00 (1.53)
hdn1ah5t_s	2.37 (1.81)	5.09 (1.90)	8.05 (1.51)
hdn1ah6t_s	2.23 (1.80)	5.03 (1.96)	8.01 (1.58)
hdn1ah7t_s	2.30 (1.82)	5.03 (1.91)	7.86 (1.60)
hdn1ah8t_s	2.51 (2.03)	5.30 (2.07)	7.97 (1.59)
hdn1ah9t_s	2.28 (2.00)	4.98 (2.04)	7.56 (1.78)

Note. Profile 1 (N=378); Profile 2 (N=1027); Profile 3 (N=1101); fixation times in seconds. Task A refers to the first domain-general categorization task at Wave 1.

Next, we examined differences in children's age between the three profiles. Descriptively, children in Profile 1 were youngest (M=6.75, SD=0.65), while children in Profile 3 were oldest (M=7.08, SD=0.73), and Profile 2 was in-between (M=6.91, SD=0.69). Regression analysis and post-hoc tests showed that the level differences between all three classes were significant; Profile 1 and Profile 2: F(1, 2499)=15.12, p<.01; Profile 1 and Profile 3: F(1, 2499)=61.10, p<.01; Profile 2 and Profile 3: F(1, 2499)=28.65, p<.01. The results suggest that younger children spent less time looking at the stimulus material, while older children show prolonged looking times, which is counterintuitive given the typically decreasing looking times in habituation-dishabituation tasks with increasing age (e.g., Colombo et al., 2004). As the overall slope of looking times during the habituation phase was comparable between the profiles, we reason that the youngest children (Profile 1) were maybe more uncomfortable with the observational setting and, therefore, focused less on the stimulus material.

Thus, using data reduction methods, the pattern of results for Task A is not similar to findings from the literature. In 5-month-old infants, McCall (1979) reported two clusters with fluctuating patterns, while a third cluster showed a typical decrement during the habituation phase. As the present findings suggest rather stable interindividual looking times across trials, this can probably be attributed to the categorical stimulus material, which was shown to result in prolonged looking behavior and greater engagement in the task, especially in older children (Courage et al., 2006; Fennell, 2012). In addition, prolonged looking behavior might be a result of the familiar setting in the children's home compared to standard laboratories, which activated the children more during task administration (Wass & Leong, 2016). As the three profiles mainly reflect level differences, this might indicate that the task discriminated between overall visual attention instead of information processing. Thus, when applying data reduction methods, the patterns need to be contrasted to theoretical assumptions about looking time patterns in general (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009) as well as specific empirical findings reported in the relevant age range (Colombo et al., 2004).



Figure 4. Fixation time patterns during the habituation phase of Task A for all three profiles. Task A refers to the first domain-general categorization habituation-dishabituation task at Wave 1.

5. Data selection

As data selection criteria have a great influence on calculating and interpreting fixation times (Fennell, 2012; Kavšek, 2004a; Oakes, 2010), this chapter presents further information on how the children's looking times can be approached from a methodological standpoint. Specifically, short looking times, relevant child characteristics, and disturbances during the observation are discussed. Finally, we provide information on possible forms of data transformation.

5.1 Handling short looking times

To make sure that the children's looking times can be interpreted as a valid indicator for having processed the presented stimuli adequately, cut-off criteria for short fixation times (i.e., short episodes of looking at the target) are often used (Oakes, 2010). However, as Colombo and Mitchell (2009) note, there is no consensus in the literature on what cut-off criterion to use. Some authors suggest that within a range of 0.5-1 seconds, cutting off values does not result in systematically different results (Colombo & Mitchell, 1990), while others argue that single looking time events should not be smaller than 400 milliseconds (Kavšek, 2013). In experiments on sustained attention in infants, it could be shown, that through a change in heart rate, a minimum of about 1 second is required, following stimulus onset. This has been interpreted as a stimulus orienting response of the infants, which likely reflects attentional processing (Richards & Casey, 1992). In studies on sustained deceleration (Colombo et al., 2004) and in studies with more complicated stimulus material (Cohen et al., 1975), even higher cut-off values have been discussed. Thus, many authors argue that cut-off criteria can reduce local maxima, which influences measures of habituation and dishabituation.
However, cut-off values are often arbitrary and differ vastly among studies (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009). A certain amount of data will be defined as invalid, when in reality the looking time event might have contributed to how the infant processed the stimulus. For reaction time tasks, it was shown that truncated looking times can bias results and distort linear relationships because valid events of stimulus processing are excluded (Ulrich & Miller, 1994). Moreover, cut-off criteria usually lead to an increase in missing values and dropout of cases. Finally, most studies with cut-off criteria have infant-controlled designs. In such studies, the elimination of small looking times events is directly related to reaching the habituation criterion and, thus, how long the stimulus material is presented (e.g., Bornstein & Suess, 2000; Brooks & Meltzoff, 2008; Colombo et al., 2004; Mayes & Kessen, 1989). To the knowledge of the authors, there have been no methodological studies on whether short looking time events have a comparable impact in fixed-trial designs.

In the context of NEPS SC1, an extreme example of short looking times are cases with zero looking times (i.e., the child did not look at the target during the 10 second interval). Handling such cases becomes relevant when one decides against using cut-off criteria. These cases do not represent missing values in a traditional sense (e.g., Graham, 2009). Rather, such zero looking times indicate that external or internal factors resulted in the child having looked away from the target in the respective interval. Overall, children showed no looking time on target for a number of trials (Wave 1: Table 20; Wave 2: Table 21). In Wave 1 (Task A: N=414; Task B: N=517), the number of cases with zero looking times was generally higher than in Wave 2 (Task C: N=61; Task D: N=85; Task E: N=117).

Table 20

	Task A	Task B	
	I dSK A	Idsk D	
No zero looking times	2092 (83.48%)	1959 (79.12%)	
1	224 (8.94%)	281 (11.35%)	
2	90 (3.59%)	106 (4.28%)	
3	36 (1.44%)	57 (2.30%)	
4	22 (0.88%)	36 (1.45%)	
5	7 (0.28%)	20 (0.81%)	
6	11 (0.44%)	8 (0.32%)	
7	12 (0.48%)	6 (0.24%)	
8	4 (0.16%)	2 (0.08%)	
9	1 (0.04%)	0	
10	5 (0.20%)	1 (0.04%)	
11	2 (0.08%)	0	
12	0	0	
13	0	0	

Number of Trials with Zero Looking Time on Target (Wave 1)

Note. All cases considered with video recordings and available looking time data (without missing values); all respective trials considered. Task A – Task B refer to the domain-general categorization habituation-dishabituation tasks at Wave 1.

Thus, although most of the children do not show zero looking times, the issue should be addressed when working with the data of NEPS SC1. The descriptive overviews also suggest that the number of cases with no looking time towards the target tends to increase during the sequence of tasks at each wave (Table 20; Table 21). As fixed-trial designs are used to study interindividual differences, trials with zero looking time on target should not be critical when they are randomly distributed, for example, due to unsystematic internal or external factors. However, they are potentially problematic when there is a systematic influence. When zero looking times indicate task systematic interruptions or distractions such as external (e.g., distractions of other people or loud noises) or internal events (e.g., sleepiness/fussiness of the child), such cases should be excluded (Jones, 2019).

Table 21

	Task C	Task D	Task E
No zero looking times	1070 (94.61%)	1082 (92.72%)	995 (89.48%)
1	40 (3.54%)	66 (5.66%)	78 (7.01%)
2	14 (1.24%)	13 (1.11%)	27 (2.43%)
3	3 (0.27%)	5 (0.43%)	6 (0.54%)
4	1 (0.09%)	1 (0.09%)	3 (0.27%)
5	1 (0.09%)	0	2 (0.18%)
6	1 (0.09%)	0	1 (0.09%)
7	0	0	0
3	1 (0.09%)	0	0
)	0	-	0
10	0	-	0
11	0	-	0
12	0	-	0
13	0	-	0

Number of Trials with Zero Looking Time on Target (Wave 2)

Note. All cases considered with video recordings and available looking time data (without missing values); all respective trials considered in each task. Task C – E refer to the habituation-dishabituation tasks at Wave 2.

Overall, handling short looking times depends on the research question. When using the habituation-dishabituation tasks in NEPS SC1 to investigate early predictors of later cognitive abilities, most cut-off criteria are not likely to influence the overall pattern of results and may be regarded as measurement error – even though the error should not be completely at random (Gilmore & Thomas, 2002). When investigating the available looking time data from a methodological standpoint, however, short looking time events should be analyzed more thoroughly and different cut-off criteria should be considered and possibly compared. Still, it should be noted that looking time data in current data releases of NEPS SC1 does not allow for investigating different underlying processes of visual attention in detail (i.e., orienting attention and selective engagement; Reynolds, 2015) because only accumulated looking times are available. When cut-off criteria are not considered, zero looking times need to be

addressed. Although cases with a substantial amount of zero looking times were rare, they should be excluded from the analysis, as it can be reasoned that the stimulus material was not sufficiently processed. Still, some authors argue that including zero looking times does not generally bias results and leads to an increased sample size (Colombo & Mitchell, 1990), which is why robustness checks should be done after applying a cut-off criterion. At least when examining specific trials (e.g., for calculating certain measures or when focusing on the dishabituation phase), cases with zero looking times should not be included without robustness checks.

5.2 Disturbances

In infant studies, child-related disturbances are frequently reported such as fussiness (see Slaughter & Suddendorf, 2007), drowsiness, crying, excessive movements, irritability, and restlessness or falling asleep. These cases are usually excluded because such disturbances influence if and how the child participates during the task and how the stimulus material is processed. At the first two waves, the coders of the video recordings protocolled child-related disturbances for each task. Table 22 shows that reported child-related disturbances were marginal in the overall sample with informed consent, especially when compared to studies conducted in a laboratory setting (Slaughter & Suddendorf, 2007). It should be noted, however, that cases in which video recordings could not be started or finished due to child-related disturbances, could not be covered this way.

Table 22

	No child-related disturbance	Child-related disturbances	No information available
Task A	2985 (95.40%)	24 (0.77%)	120 (3.83%)
Task B	2915 (93.16%)	68 (2.17%)	146 (4.67%)
Task C	1366 (92.05%)	25 (1.68%)	93 (6.27%)
Task D	1228 (82.75%)	35 (2.36%)	221 (1.89%)
Task E	1215 (81.87%)	69 (4.65%)	200 (13.48%)

Descriptive Overview of Child-Related Disturbances in the Habituation-Dishabituation Tasks

Note. All cases considered with informed consent at Wave 1 (N=3129) and at Wave 2 (N=1484), respectively. Task A – Task B refer to the habituation-dishabituation tasks at Wave 1; Task C – Task E refer to the habituation-dishabituation tasks at Wave 2.

Such extremely low numbers of child-related disturbances were unexpected but probably a result of the familiar environment. Thus, most children can be regarded cooperative during the habituation-dishabituation tasks in both waves. The household setting could have been responsible for the children's level of participation and sustained attention. However, NEPS SC1 has limited information on the immediate environment of the children, namely qualities of the household. Examples are stressful and chaotic features of the immediate environment. Household chaos refers to aspects that may confuse young children, such as disorganized structures and hurriedness in the home, especially if these disturbances happen severely and chronically (for an overview, see Emond, 2020). Such stressful contexts were already shown to be associated with reduced information processing in 5-month-old infants (Tomalski et al., 2017) and may result in the detrimental development of school-related skills and competencies (Martin et al., 2012). This might also increase measurement error during

habituation-dishabituation tasks, as well as influencing children's attention selectively, although given the present number of disturbances such cases in the data of NEPS SC1 should generally be rare.

5.3 Child characteristics

Child characteristics relevant for interpreting habituation and dishabituation include preterm birth (i.e., <37 weeks of gestation; Kavšek & Bornstein, 2010), low birthweight (i.e., <2000g; Hack et al., 1995), post-term birth (i.e., >42 weeks of gestation; Bornstein et al., 2013), visual/hearing impairment (Kavšek & Bornstein, 2010) depending on the stimulus presentation, and later reported developmental disability (Brian et al., 2003). Usually, these cases should be controlled for or excluded because they often indicate prematurity, which is problematic when examining interindividual differences (Kavšek & Bornstein, 2010; Ohgi et al., 2003; Ortiz-Mantilla et al., 2008). In addition, preterm low birthweight infants were found to have a higher variance in their looking time patterns than full-term infants (Thomas et al., 1998), which could result in statistical artifacts. Children born preterm are often excluded, especially if habituation and dishabituation are used for predicting later abilities and competencies. In NEPS SC1, there was only a small subsample of children born preterm and children born post-term were the exception (Table 23).

Table 23

	Full-term	Preterm	Post-term	
Task A	2349 (93.74%)	143 (5.71%)	14 (0.55%)	
Task B	2317 (93.58%)	146 (5.90%)	13 (0.52%)	
Task C	1062 (93.90%)	62 (5.48%)	7 (0.62%)	
Task D	1094 (93.74%)	66 (5.67%)	7 (0.59%)	
Task E	1048 (94.24%)	57 (5.13%)	7 (0.63%)	

Birth Status of NEPS SC1 Children

Note. All cases considered with available looking time data (without missing values). Task A – Task B refer to the habituation-dishabituation tasks at Wave 1; Task C – Task E refer to the habituation-dishabituation tasks at Wave 2.

Regarding children's health, it should be noted that there is no exact information on nutritional status at both waves, although information of the routine medical examinations is included (i.e., information from the child health record books). At least for malnourished 12-month-old infants, it was shown that habituation to auditory signals was substantially associated with belated or absent orientation response and a lack of dishabituation (Lester, 1975) – although differences only showed in severely malnourished infants (Lester et al., 1975). Using a visual preference study, Lasky and Klein (1980) also supported the notion that malnourished children compared to well-nourished children respond to a lesser extent to novel stimuli. However, for the German population, such cases should be extremely rare (McCarthy et al., 2019). Regarding more unstable child characteristics such as mild illness, research is scarce. However, one previous study found no systematic effect on habituation patterns, except for a higher rate of fatigue (Haskins et al., 1978).

Finally, child temperament (e.g., effortful control and surgency) has been suggested to be associated with children's visual attention (Papageorgiou et al., 2015) and, thus, with their

performance in habituation-dishabituation tasks. It was found, for example, that infants with an agitated temperament were less likely to complete a habituation task at 4 months (Bell et al., 1998; Bell et al., 2002; similarly Treiber, 1982) – see Mink and colleagues (2013) for contrasting findings regarding dropout rates. This effect could be associated with the child's gender (Wachs & Smitherman, 1985). In previous analyses of NEPS SC1, child temperament (i.e., negative affectivity) was positively associated with total fixation time during the habituation phase in Task A (Weinert et al., 2017) but not in Task C (Attig & Weinert, 2018). Similarly, in categorical habituation tasks, fearful (Rieser-Danner, 2003) and distressed children (Vonderlin et al., 2008) were less likely to show a typical looking time pattern (i.e., familiarity with the test administrator and testing environment).

5.4 Multiple family languages

In cognitive research, it has been suggested that children growing up with multiple languages at home, namely crib bilinguals (e.g., Kovács, 2016), may have several advantages. Typically, researchers point out specific developmental differences between monolinguals and bilinguals regarding gray matter density in the left parietal cortex (García-Pentón et al., 2014) and higher executive functions, covering inhibitory control, monitoring, and attention switching (Diamond, 2013). Overall, results are still inconsistent regarding the domainspecificity of such a bilingual advantage (Bialystok, 1999; Kovács & Mehler, 2009; but see Paap & Greenberg, 2013; Samuel et al., 2018). Theoretically, it is reasonable that domain-general cognitive processes are impacted by the exposure to more than one language during infancy. Indeed, Singh and colleagues (2015) found that 6-month-old bilingual infants showed faster information processing and better recognition memory than monolinguals. They used an infant-controlled habituation-dishabituation task with identical stimulus material and found significant advantages in bilinguals for several measures (i.e., attention decrement, habituation slope, and novelty preference). The authors, thus, argue for a domain-general advantage of bilinguals over monolinguals that comprises basic visual information processing and emerges in the first months of life.

Still, it should be noted that regarding bilingual language exposure, data in NEPS SC1 is limited and often confounded with other variables of interest. Thus, not all challenges of bilingualism research can be met with the dataset (e.g., context of exposure or language dominance; Werker & Byers-Heinlein, 2008). It should be carefully considered if and how family language can be controlled for, when using habituation-dishabituation tasks for indicating early cognitive abilities. Although previous studies found a domain-general effect in a sample of 6month-old infants (Singh et al., 2015) and possibly differences in the novelty effect of bilingual and monolingual infants (Singh, 2021), there have been very few comparable studies.

5.5 Data transformation

As other reaction time based experimental designs, looking time data in habituationdishabituation tasks are usually left-skewed (e.g., Farroni et al., 2005; Leslie & Chen, 2007). If the data is heavily skewed (i.e., not normally distributed and/or without homogeneous standard deviations), traditional parametric statistical approaches (e.g., t-test or regression analysis), will not produce reliable results (Chin & Lee, 2008), resulting in biased estimators and confidence intervals that cannot be adequately interpreted (Ernst & Albers, 2017; Williams et al., 2013). To generate normally distributed data, there are several approaches. One approach is to identify and eliminate outliers (e.g., Beier & Spelke, 2012; Jones, 2019; Wagner & Carey, 2005). However, excluding certain values is often arbitrary in disregarding data and inefficient when the data structure is complex. Another approach is to use nonparametric tests (Havron et al., 2020) that make fewer assumptions about the data distribution (i.e., normally distributed residuals; Rasmussen & Dunlap, 1991) but are also generally less powerful than parametric tests (Chin & Lee, 2008). Lastly, in infant habituation research, logarithmic data transformation has sometimes been used to produce log-normal distributions (e.g., Bornstein et al., 2013; Dunn & Bremner, 2016; Mayes & Kessen, 1989; Woodward, 1998). However, other types of transformations have also been used, for example arcsine/angular (Barten & Ronch, 1971; Imafuku et al., 2019) or square-root transformation (Colombo et al., 1987; Millar & Weir, 1995). In comparing looking time data to general reaction time data (see Whelan, 2008), Csibra and colleagues (2016) noted that due to the nonarbitrary zero point, the continuously positive types of measurement, and the possibility to interpret accumulated fixation times proportionally to each other, looking time data might follow a log-normal distribution. At least when using proportions of looking times for sequential stimuli, the authors recommend transforming the data logarithmically. Regarding NEPS SC1, most previous analyses transformed the data logarithmically due to the characteristics of the distribution (Attig & Weinert, 2018; Hondralis & Kleinert, 2021).

6. Summary and Conclusion

In NEPS SC1, visual habituation-dishabituation tasks were administered in the first two waves, namely when the children were on average 7 and 17 months. Domain-general categorization and domain-specific tasks tapping early quantitative abilities and word learning were administered in the children's home by trained interviewers. Compared to typical infant studies, NEPS SC1 provides rich data on the children's socioeconomic background and the sample is relatively heterogeneous, which is especially important for analyzing structural and environmental factors. For the habituation-dishabituation tasks, the Scientific Use File provides a range of information on children's looking times on and off target. This technical report presented selected insights into how the data may be approached, although not all aspects could be elaborated in detail. As examples of often-used measures, we included total fixation time (TFT), habituation strength (STR), habituation criterion (HAB), habituation slope, and attention recovery (ATR) (Colombo et al., 1987; Kavšek, 2004a). In addition, the possibility of analyzing children's looking time patterns with data reduction methods was discussed. Overall, it depends on the research question what approach to use.

The familiar setting in the children's home probably resulted in atypical looking time patterns in the habituation and dishabituation phases of most tasks. Although one previous study found no systematic difference in looking times between household and laboratory setting (Bornstein & Ludeman, 1989), we suspect that the familiar environment facilitated children's attention. In other words, the habituation-dishabituation tasks in NEPS SC1 could have higher ecological validity when compared to standardized laboratory environment. We found that looking times at the target were generally high and only subgroups of children showed a decrease in fixation times in the habituation phase. Still, NEPS SC1 only provides a limited amount of information regarding potential effects of the children's immediate environment (e.g., interruptions by parents or siblings, lighting, traffic noise). However, while there could be numerous reasons why a household setting might influence the children's attention negatively, overall the opposite seems to be the case as a large amount of children participated in the tasks without any interruptions or disturbances, which is a central strength of the data.

Regarding interindividual differences in habituation and dishabituation, we found only few significant correlations between children's age and fixation time on target. Previous studies suggest that, because fixation times indicate processing speed, they should decline with age (Ropeter & Pauen, 2013). Because older children process visual information more quickly, they should also habituate more efficiently (Colombo et al., 1988; Kavšek, 2004a). However, as other authors have already suggested, the relationship between looking times as a quantitative measure and the quality of information processing is not fully understood because looking times may indicate processing of local and/or global features (Freeseman et al., 1993). In addition, typically only the first year of life is investigated in the literature; thus, interindividual differences regarding the children's age could be substantially smaller in the second year of life, due to maturational changes.

Overall, our findings suggest that total fixation time in NEPS SC1 indicates a form of sustained attention (Ruff, 1986), while in laboratory studies children with consistently high looking times would be categorized as non-habituators or slow habituators (e.g., McCall, 1979). It is generally held that children with long fixation times have poorer processing speed than children with a typical decrement in the habituation phase (e.g., Ropeter & Pauen, 2013; Sigman et al., 1997). Thus, showing prolonged looking time during the habituation phase or not reaching the habituation criterion was frequently shown to be associated with poorer cognitive outcomes (e.g., McCall & Carriger, 1993; Teubert et al., 2011). However, there is also evidence suggesting that the effect of attention decrement during the habituation phase on language skills might be moderated by attentional focus (Dixon & Smith, 2008). Here, the authors found that for children with high attention focus, processing speed was positively related to productive vocabulary at 20 months – so, children with longer fixation times and consequently a weaker habituation decrement had higher language skills if they also had high attentional focus. The authors conclude that volitional attention is probably an underlying mechanism, which is why slow habituation should not generally be regarded as poor performance. The present data also indicates that long looking times, and consequently slower habituation, should be examined more carefully (see Colombo et al., 2004).

One limitation of the experimental design of the habituation-dishabituation tasks in NEPS SC1 was the lack of a randomized task order. At both waves, the sequence of the tasks was fixed, which makes it impossible to disentangle effects of categorization, attentional processes, and task sequence, which is why direct comparisons between the tasks is not possible, even if Task B and Task C effectively used the same stimulus material. However, the fixed sequence also makes large-scale group comparisons easier, which was the focus of NEPS SC1. Additionally, only tasks with a fixed-trial design were administered which are often criticized as outdated because many children might not habituate properly (Bornstein & Sigman, 1986; but see Haaf et al., 1983). As a result, some children might not identify the dishabituation stimulus as novel, while others might have already habituated early on. This is why some authors prefer the term familiarization for such designs instead of habituation (Aslin, 2007; Oakes, 2010). Still, in the large-scale context of NEPS SC1, the fixed-trial design was deemed useful, as it allowed for a high degree of standardization and certain elements of infant-controlled tasks were seen as problematic (i.e., interviewer experience and online coding). In addition, analyzing the looking time behavior in habituators and non-habituators revealed consistent patterns that matched

our previous expectations. Thus, NEPS SC1 is useful for identifying interindividual differences in early cognitive functioning on a group level (Colombo & Mitchell, 2009).

One important benefit of NEPS SC1 is that habituation-dishabituation tasks were administered to a large and heterogeneous sample in a household setting. Thus, there is rich data on the children's socioeconomic background, family, home learning environment, social capital or other cultural resources, regional information (Weinert et al., 2016), as well as longitudinal competence data (Artelt et al., 2013; Weinert et al., 2019). As habituation-dishabituation tasks may be used to examine early cognitive abilities as well as the effects of such precursors on later skills and competencies, the data offers numerous possibilities for extending, replicating, and verifying existing results as well as gaining knowledge about how children's immediate environment influences their cognitive development (e.g., Bronfenbrenner & Morris, 2006).

7. References

- Acock, A. (2005). Working with missing values. *Journal of Marriage and Family, 67*(4), 1012-1028. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2005.00191.x
- Artelt, C., Weinert, S., & Carstensen, C. (2013). Assessing competencies across the lifespan within the German NationalEducational Panel Study (NEPS) - Editorial. *Journal for educational research online*, *5*, 5-14. https://www.pedocs.de/volltexte/2013/8422/pdf/JERO_2013_2_Artelt_Weinert_Carste nsen_Editorial_Assessing_competencies.pdf
- Arterberry, M., & Kellman, P. (2016). *Development of perception in infancy: The cradle of knowledge revisited.* Oxford University Press.
- Ashmead, D., & Davis, D. (1996). Measuring habituation in infants: An approach using regression analysis. *Child Development*, *67*(6), 2677-2690. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996.tb01882.x
- Aslin, R. (2007). What's in a look? *Developmental Science*, *10*(1), 48-53. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2007.00563.x
- Attig, M., & Weinert, S. (2018). Soziale Disparitäten im Kontext von Mutter-Kind-Interaktionen und frühen Entwicklungsmaßen von Kindern [Social disparities in mother-child interactions and early developmental measures of children]. *Frühe Bildung, 7*(1), 22-31. https://doi.org/10.1026/2191-9186/a000356
- Aylward, G. (2013). Continuing issues with the Bayley-III: Where to go from here. *Journal of Developmental* & *Behavioral Pediatrics, 34*(9), 697-701. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0000000000000000
- Baillargeon, R. (1987). Object permanence in 3½-and 4½-month-old infants. *Developmental Psychology*, *23*(5), 655-664. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.23.5.655
- Baillargeon, R. (2008). Innate ideas revisited: For a principle of persistence in infants' physical reasoning. *Perspectives on Psychological Science, 3*(1), 2-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6916.2008.00056.x
- Barten, S., & Ronch, J. (1971). Continuity in the development of visual behavior in young infants. *Child Development*, *42*(5), 1566-1571. https://doi.org/10.2307/1127921
- Bayley, N. (2006). *Bayley Scales of Infant and Toddler Development Third Edition*. Harcourt Assessment. https://doi.org/10.1037/t14978-000
- Beier, J., & Spelke, E. (2012). Infants' developing understanding of social gaze. *Child Development*, *83*(2), 486-496. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2011.01702.x
- Bell, J., Slater, A., & ALSPAC Study Team. (2002). The short-term and longer-term stability of non-completion in an infant habituation task. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 25(2), 147-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(02)00118-2
- Bell, J., Slater, A., & Thorpe, K. (1998). The biasing nature of subject loss in an infant habituation task. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 21(Supplement), 287. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(98)91500-4
- Bialystok, E. (1999). Cognitive complexity and attentional control in the bilingual mind. *Child Development, 70*(3), 636-644. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00046

- Bjorklund, D., & Causey, K. (2018). *Children's thinking: Cognitive development and individual differences.* Sage Publications.
- Blossfeld, H.-P., & Roßbach, H.-G. (2019). Education as a lifelong process. The German National Educational Panel Study (NEPS). Springer VS. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-23162-0
- Bornstein, M. (1985). How infant and mother jointly contribute to developing cognitive competence in the child. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 82*(21), 7470-7473. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.82.21.7470
- Bornstein, M., & Ludeman, P. (1989). Habituation at home. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *12*(4), 525-529. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-6383(89)90031-3
- Bornstein, M., & Sigman, M. (1986). Continuity in mental development from infancy. *Child Development*, *57*(2), 251-274. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130581
- Bornstein, M., & Suess, P. (2000). Physiological self-regulation and information processing in infancy: Cardiac vagal tone and habituation. *Child Development*, 71(2), 273-287. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00143
- Bornstein, M., Hahn, C., & Wolke, D. (2013). Systems and cascades in cognitive development and academic achievement. *Child Development, 84*(1), 154-162. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01849.x
- Bornstein, M., Hahn, C.-S., Bell, C., Haynes, O., Slater, A., Golding, J., Wolke, D., & the ALSPAC Study Team. (2006). Stability in cognition across early childhood: A developmental cascade. *Psychological Science*, 17(2), 151-158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01678.x
- Brian, J., Landry, R., Szatmari, P., Niccols, A., & Bryson, S. (2003). Habituation in high-risk infants: Reliability and patterns of responding. *Infant and Child Development*, *12*(4), 387-394. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.327
- Bronfenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. (2006). The bioecological model of human development. InW. Damon, & R. Lerner (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 1: Theoretical models of human development (6th ed.)* (pp. 793-828). Wiley.
- Bronson, G. (1974). The postnatal growth of visual capacity. *Child Development, 45*(4), 873-890. https://doi.org/10.2307/1128073
- Bronson, G. (1991). Infant differences in rate of visual encoding. *Child Development, 62*(1), 44-54. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1991.tb01513.x
- Brooks, R., & Meltzoff, A. (2008). Infant gaze following and pointing predict accelerated vocabulary growth through two years of age: A longitudinal, growth curve modeling study. *Journal of Child Language*, *35*(1), 207-220. https://doi.org/10.1017/S030500090700829X
- Bulf, H., Johnson, S., & Valenza, E. (2011). Visual statistical learning in the newborn infant. *Cognition*, *121*(1), 127-132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2011.06.010
- Bynner, J., & Parsons, S. (1997). *Does numeracy matter? Evidence from the National Child Development Study on the impact of poor numeracy on adult life.* The Basic Skills Agency.
- Cantrell, L., & Smith, L. (2013). Open questions and a proposal: A critical review of the evidence on infant numerical abilities. *Cognition*, *128*(3), 331-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2013.04.008

- Celeux, G., & Soromenho, G. (1996). An entropy criterion for assessing the number of clusters in a mixture model. *Journal of Classification*, *13*(2), 195–212. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01246098
- Chin, R., & Lee, B. (2008). Analysis of data. In R. Chin, & B. Lee (Eds.), *Principles of Practice of Clinical Trial Medicine* (pp. 325-359). Academic Press.
- Clifton, R., & Nelson, M. (1976). Developmental study of habituation in infants: The importance of paradigm, response system, and state. In T. Tighe, & R. Leaton (Eds.), *Habituation: Perspectives from child development, animal behavior, and neurophysiology* (pp. 159-206). Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, L. (2004). Uses and misuses of habituation and related preference paradigms. *An Infant and Child Development*, *13*(4), 349-352. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.355
- Cohen, L., DeLoache, J., & Rissman, M. (1975). The effect of stimulus complexity on infant visual attention and habituation. *Child Development, 46*(3), 611-617. https://doi.org/10.2307/1128557
- Colombo, J., & Mitchell, D. (1990). Individual differences in early visual attention: Fixation time and information processing. In J. Colombo, & J. Fagen (Eds.), *Individual Differences in Infancy: Reliability, Stability, Prediction* (pp. 193-228). Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Colombo, J., & Mitchell, D. (2009). Infant visual habituation. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, *92*(2), 225-234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2008.06.002
- Colombo, J., Mitchell, D., & Horowitz, F. (1988). Infant visual attention in the pairedcomparison paradigm: Test-retest and attention-performance relations. *Child Development*, *59*(5), 1198-1210. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130483
- Colombo, J., Mitchell, D., O'Brien, M., & Horowitz, F. (1987). The stability of visual habituation during the first year of life. *Child Development*, *58*(2), 474-487. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130524
- Colombo, J., Shaddy, D., Richman, W., Maikranz, J., & Blaga, O. (2004). The developmental course of habituation in infancy and preschool outcome. *Infancy*, 5(1), 1-38. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327078in0501_1
- Cooper, R. (1984). Early number development: Discovering number space with addition and subtraction. In C. Sophian (Ed.), *Origins of cognitive skills* (pp. 157-192). Erlbaum.
- Courage, M., Reynolds, G., & Richards, J. (2006). Infants' attention to patterned stimuli: Developmental change from 3 to 12 months of age. *Child Development*, 77(3), 680-695. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2006.00897.x
- Csibra, G., Hernik, M., Mascaro, O., Tatone, D., & Lengyel, N. (2016). Statistical treatment of looking-time data. *Developmental Psychology*, 52(4), 521-536. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/dev0000083
- Curran, P., Obeidat, K., & Losardo, D. (2010). Twelve frequently asked questions about growth curve modeling. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, *11*(2), 121-136. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248371003699969
- Dahlin, M. (2004). *Infant visual habituation modeled by non-linear regression* (Doctoral dissertation, The Pennsylvania State University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.

- Dannemiller, J., & Banks, M. (1982). Can selective adaptation account for early infant habituation? *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 29(2), 151-158.
- Davis, H., & Anderson, M. (2010). Developmental and individual differences in fluid intelligence: Evidence against the unidimensional hypothesis. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *19*(2), 181-206. https://doi.org/10.1348/026151001166029
- Dean, N., & Raftery, A. (2010). Latent class analysis variable selection. *Annals of the Institute* of Statistical Mathematics, 62(1), 11-35. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10463-009-0258-9
- Delacre, M., Lakens, D., & Leys, C. (2017). Why psychologists should by default use Welch's ttest instead of Student's t-test. *International Review of Social Psychology*, *30*(1), 92-101. http://doi.org/10.5334/irsp.82
- DeLoache, J. (1976). Rate of habituation and visual memory in infants. *Child Development,* 47(1), 145-154. https://doi.org/10.2307/1128293
- Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. *Annual Review of Psychology, 64*(1), 135-168. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Dixon, W., & Smith, P. (2008). Attentional focus moderates habituation–language relationships: Slow habituation may be a good thing. *Infant and Child Development*, *17*(2), 95-108. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.490
- Dolnicar, S. (2002). A review of unquestioned standards in using cluster analysis for data-driven market segmentation. Melbourne, Australia: CD Conference Proceedings of the Australian and New Zealand Marketing Academy Conference 2002.
- Domsch, H., Lohaus, A., & Thomas, H. (2009). Prediction of childhood cognitive abilities from a set of early indicators of information processing capabilities. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 32(1), 91-102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2008.10.006
- Duncan, T., & Duncan, S. (2004). An introduction to latent growth curve modeling. *Behavior Therapy*, *35*(2), 333-363. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(04)80042-X
- Duncan, T., Duncan, S., & Li, F. (1998). A comparison of model-and multiple imputation-based approaches to longitudinal analyses with partial missingness. *Structural Equation Modeling:* A Multidisciplinary Journal, 5(1), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519809540086
- Dunn, K., & Bremner, J. (2016). Investigating looking and social looking measures as an index of infant violation of expectation. *Developmental Science*, 20(6), e12452. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12452
- Dunst, C., & Rheingrover, R. (1981). Discontinuity and instability in early development: Implications for assessment. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*, 1(2), 49-60. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F027112148100100210
- Emond, J. (2020). Household chaos: A risk factor for adverse child outcomes gains attention in public health. *BMC Public Health, 20*(1), 596. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08680-y
- Enders, C. (2001). The performance of the full information maximum likelihood estimator in multiple regression models with missing data. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 61(5), 713-740. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164401615001

- Ernst, A., & Albers, C. (2017). Regression assumptions in clinical psychology research practice: A systematic review of common misconceptions. *PeerJ*, *5*, e3323. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3323
- Esser, G., & Schmidt, M. (2017). Die Mannheimer Risikokinderstudie: Idee, Ziele und Design [The Mannheim Study of Children at Risk: Concept, goals, and design]. *Kindheit und Entwicklung*, *26*(4), 198-202. https://doi.org/10.1026/0942-5403/a000232
- Fairley, L., Cabieses, B., Small, N., Petherick, E., Lawlor, D., Pickett, K., & Wright, J. (2014). Using latent class analysis to develop a model of the relationship between socioeconomic position and ethnicity: Cross-sectional analyses from a multi-ethnic birth cohort study. *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 835. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-835
- Fantz, R. (1964). Visual experience in infants: Decreased attention to familiar patterns relativetonovelones.Science,146(3644),668-670.https://doi.org/10.1126/science.146.3644.668
- Farroni, T., Johnson, M., Menon, E., Zulian, L., Faraguna, D., & Csibra, G. (2005). Newborns' preference for face-relevant stimuli: Effects of contrast polarity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102(47), 17245-17250. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0502205102
- Fennell, C. (2012). Habituation procedures. In E. Hoff (Ed.), *Research methods in child language: A pratical guide* (pp. 3-16). Wiley-Blackwell.
- Fernald, A. (2010). Getting beyond the "convenience sample" in research on early cognitive development. *Behavioral and Brain Research, 33*(2-3), 91-92. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X10000294
- Freeseman, L., Colombo, J., & Coldren, J. (1993). Individual differences in infant visual attention: Four-month-olds' discrimination and generalization of global and local stimulus properties. *Child Development*, 64(4), 1191-1203. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1993.tb04195.x
- Freund, J.-D. (2012). *Erfassung numerischer Kompetenzen im frühen Kindesalter: Entwicklung und Evaluation eines Messinstruments* [Assessing numerical competencies in early childhood: Developing and evaluating a measurement instrument] (Unpublished master's thesis). University of Bamberg, Germany.
- García-Pentón, L., Fernández, A., Iturria-Medina, Y., Gillon-Dowes, M., & Carreiras, M. (2014). Anatomical connectivity changes in the bilingual brain. *Neuroimage, 84*, 495-504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.08.064
- Geary, D. (2000). From infancy to adulthood: The development of numerical abilities. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 9*(2), 11-16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s007870070004
- Gilmore, R., & Thomas, H. (2002). Examining individual differences in infants' habituation patterns using objective quantitative techniques. *Infant Behavior and Development, 25*(4), 399-412. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(02)00142-X
- Graham, J. (2009). Missing data analysis: Making it work in the real world. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *60*(1), 549-576. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085530
- Griffiths, R. (1970). The abilities of young children. Child Development Research Centre.

- Griffiths, R. (1984). The abilities of young children: A comprehensive system of mental measurement for the first eight years of life. The Test Agency.
- Haaf, R., Smitley, S., & Smith, P. (1983). Infant response to facelike patterns under fixed-trial and infant-control procedures. *Child Development*, *54*(1), 172-177. https://doi.org/10.2307/1129874
- Hachul, C., Attig, M., Lorenz, J., Weinert, S., Schneider, T., & Roßbach, H.-G. (2019). From birth to early child care: The Newborn Cohort Study of the National Educational Panel Study. In H.-P. Blossfeld, & H.-G. Roßbach (Eds.), *Education as a lifelong process* (pp. 195-214). Springer VS. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-23162-0_11
- Hack, M., Klein, N., & Taylor, H. (1995). Long-term developmental outcomes of low birth weight infants. *The Future of Children, 5*(1), 176-196. https://doi.org/10.2307/1602514
- Hair, J., Black, W., Babin, B., & Anderson, R. (2014). *Multivariate data analysis: Pearson new international edition*. Pearson Education Limited.
- Halle, T., Forry, N., Hair, E., Perper, K., Wandner, L., Wessel, J., & Vick, J. (2009). *Disparities in early learning and development: Lessons from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study Birth Cohort (ECLS-B).* Child Trends.
- Haskins, R., Collier, A., Ramey, C., & Hirschbiel, P. (1978). The effect of mild illness on habituation in the first year of life. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *3*(3), 150-155. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/3.3.150
- Havron, N., Bergmann, C., & Tsuji, S. (2020). Preregistration in infant research A primer. *Infancy*, 25(5), 734-754. https://doi.org/10.1111/infa.12353
- Hendry, A., Johnson, M., & Holmboe, K. (2019). Early development of visual attention: Change, stability, and longitudinal associations. *Annual Review of Developmental Psychology*, 1 (1), 251-275. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-devpsych-121318-085114
- Henrich, J., Heine, S., & Norenzayan, A. (2010). The weirdest people in the world? *Behavioral* and Brain Sciences, 33(2-3), 61-83. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0140525X0999152X
- Hogan, J., & Laird, N. (1997). Mixture models for the joint distribution of repeated measures and event times. *Statistics in Medicine, 16*(3), 239-257. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0258(19970215)16:3<239::AID-SIM483>3.0.CO;2-X
- Hondralis, I., & Kleinert, C. (2021). Do children influence their mothers' decisions? Early child development and maternal employment entries after birth. *Advances in Life Course Research*, *47*, 100378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcr.2020.100378
- Houston-Price, C., & Nakai, S. (2004). Distinguishing novelty and familiarity effects in infant preference procedures. *Infant and Child Development*, *13*(4), 341-348. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.364
- Imafuku, M., Kanakogi, Y., Butler, D., & Myowa, M. (2019). Demystifying infant vocal imitation: The roles of mouth looking and speaker's gaze. *Developmental Science*, *22*(6), e12825. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12825
- Jensen, A. (1993). Why is reaction time correlated with psychometric g? *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, *2*(2), 53-56. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.ep10770697

- Jerome, K., Susan, L., Reznick, S., & Susan, H. (1979). Asymmetry of inference in the dishabituation paradigm. *Canadian Journal of Psychology/Revue Canadienne de Psychologie*, 33(4), 288-305. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0081727
- Jones, P. (2019). A note on detecting statistical outliers in psychophysical data. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics, 81*(5), 1189-1196. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-019-01726-3
- Kail, R. (1991). Developmental change in speed of processing during childhood and adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 109(3), 490-501. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.109.3.490
- Kavšek, M. (2004a). Die Reliabilität von visuellen Habituations- und Dishabituationsmaßen [The reliability of measures of visual habituation and dishabituation]. Zeitschrift für Entwicklungspsychologie und Pädagogische Psychologie, 36(2), 83-94. https://doi.org/10.1026/0049-8637.36.2.83
- Kavšek, M. (2004b). Predicting later IQ from infant visual habituation and visual response to novelty: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *25*(3), 369–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2004.04.006
- Kavšek, M. (2013). The comparator model of infant visual habituation and dishabituation: Recent insights. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(8), 793-808. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21081
- Kavšek, M., & Bornstein, M. (2010). Visual habituation and dishabituation in preterm infants: A review and meta-analysis. *Research in Developmental Disabilities, 31*(5), 951-975. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2010.04.016
- Kovács, A. (2016). Cognitive effects of bilingualism in infancy. In E. Nicoladis, & S. Montanari (Eds.), *Bilingualism across the lifespan: Factors moderating language proficiency* (pp. 249-268). American Psychological Association & Walter de Gruyter. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/14939-014
- Kovács, A., & Mehler, J. (2009). Cognitive gains in 7-month-old bilingual infants. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 106(16), 6556-6560. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0811323106
- Krogh, M., & Væver, M. (2019). A longitudinal study of the predictive validity of the Bayley-III scales and subtests. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 16(6), 727-738. https://doi.org/10.1080/17405629.2018.1485563
- Lasky, R., & Klein, R. (1980). Fixation of the standard and novelty preference in six-month-old well- and malnourished infants. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly of Behavior and Development, 26*(2), 171-178.
- Laucht, M., Esser, G., & Schmidt, M. (1994). Contrasting infant predictors of later cognitive functioning. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *35*(4), 649-662. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1994.tb01211.x

- Laucht, M., Esser, G., & Schmidt, M. (2000). Längsschnittforschung zur Entwicklungsepidemiologie psychischer Störungen: Zielsetzung, Konzeption und zentrale Befunde der Mannheimer Risikokinderstudie [A longitudinal investigation of the developmental epidemiology of psychiatric disorders: Aims, conception, and central findings of the Mannheim Study of Children at Risk]. *Klinische Psychologie und Psychotherapie*, 29(4), 246-262. https://doi.org/10.1026//0084-5345.29.4.246
- Lavoie, C., & Desrochers, S. (2002). Visual habituation at five months: Short-term reliability of measures obtained with a new polynomial regression criterion. *The Journal of Genetic Psychology*, *163*(3), 261-271. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221320209598682
- Leslie, A., & Chen, M. (2007). Individuation of pairs of objects in infancy. *Developmental Science*, *10*(4), 423-430. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2007.00596.x
- Lester, B. (1975). Cardiac habituation of the orienting response to an auditory signal in infants of varying nutritional status. *Developmental Psychology*, 11(4), 432-442. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0076665
- Lester, B., Klein, R., & Martinez, S. (1975). The use of habituation in the study of the effects of infantile malnutrition. *Developmental Psychobiology, 8*(6), 541-546. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.420080611
- Luiz, D., Foxcroft, C., & Stewart, R. (2001). The construct validity of the Griffiths Scales of Mental Development. *Child: Care, Health and Development, 27*(1), 73-83. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2214.2001.00158.x
- Mangold International. (2011). INTERACT (9.6.1.170). Mangold International GmbH.
- Martin, A., Razza, R., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2012). Specifying the links between household chaos and preschool children's development. *Early Child Development and Care, 182*(10), 1247-1263. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2011.605522
- Maxwell, S. (2004). The persistence of underpowered studies in psychological research: causes, consequences, and remedies. *Psychological Methods*, *9*(2), 147-163. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.9.2.147
- Mayes, L., & Kessen, W. (1989). Maturational changes in measures of habituation. *Infant Behavior and Development, 12*(4), 437-450. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-6383(89)90025-8
- McCall, R. (1979). Individual differences in the pattern of habituation at 5 and 10 months of age. *Developmental Psychology*, *15*(5), 559-569. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0078088
- McCall, R. (1994). What process mediates predictions of childhood IQ from infant habituation and recognition memory? Speculations on the roles of inhibition and rate of information processing. *Intelligence, 18*(2), 107-125. https://doi.org/10.1016/0160-2896(94)90022-1
- McCall, R., & Carriger, M. (1993). A meta-analysis of infant habituation and recognition memory performance as predictors of later IQ. *Child Development, 64*(1), 57-79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1993.tb02895.x
- McCarthy, A., Delvin, E., Marcil, V., Belanger, V., Marchand, V., Boctor, D., Rashid, M., Noble, A., Davidson, B., Groleau, V., Spahis, S., Royd, C., & Levy, E. (2019). Prevalence of malnutrition in pediatric hospitals in developed and in-transition countries: The impact of hospital practices. *Nutrients*, 11(2), 236. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu11020236

- McNeish, D., & Matta, T. (2018). Differentiating between mixed-effects and latent-curve approaches to growth modeling. *Behavioral Research Methods*, *50*(4), 1398-1414. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-017-0976-5
- Millar, W., & Weir, C. (1995). A comparison of fixed-trial and infant-control habituation procedures with 6-to 13-month-old at-risk infants. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *18*(3), 263-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-6383(95)90015-2
- Mink, D., Henning, A., & Aschersleben, G. (2013). Visual habituation tasks: The role of infant temperament. *Infant Behavior and Development, 36*(3), 377-390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2013.03.005
- Monroy, C., Shafto, C., Castellanos, I., Bergeson, T., & Houston, D. (2019). Visual habituation in deaf and hearing infants. *PloS One,* 14(2), e0209265. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0209265
- Moulton, V., McElroy, E., Richarda, M., Fitzsimons, E., Northstone, K., Conti, G., Ploubidis, G., & O'Neill, D. (2020). A guide to the cognitive measures in five British birth cohort studies. CLOSER. https://www.closer.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/250820-Guide-to-cognitive-measures-in-five-British-birth-cohorts.pdf
- National Research Council. (2015). *Transforming the workforce for children through age 8: A unifying foundation.* National Academies Press.
- NEPS Network. (2021). National Educational Panel Study, Scientific Use File of Starting Cohort Newborns. Bamberg, Germany: Leibniz Institute for Educational Trajectories (LIfBi). https://doi.org/10.5157/NEPS:SC1:8.0.0
- Nylund, K., Asparouhov, T., & Muthén, B. (2007). Deciding on the number of classes in latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling: A Monte Carlo simulation study. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 14*(4), 535-569. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705510701575396
- Nylund-Gibson, K., & Choi, A. (2018). Ten frequently asked questions about latent class analysis. *Translational Issues in Psychological Science*, 4(4), 440-461. https://doi.org/10.1037/tps0000176
- Oakes, L. (2010). Using habituation of looking time to assess mental processes. Journal of Cognition and Development, 11(3), 255-268. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248371003699977
- Oakes, L. (2017). Sample size, statistical power, and false conclusions in infant looking-time research. *Infancy*, 22(4), 436-469. https://doi.org/10.1111/infa.12186
- Oakes, L., Madole, K., & Cohen, L. (1991). Infants' object examining: Habituation and categorization. *Cognitive Development*, *6*(4), 377-392. https://doi.org/10.1016/0885-2014(91)90045-F
- Ohgi, S., Arisawa, K., Takahasi, T., Kusumoto, T., Goto, Y., Akiyama, T., & Saito, H. (2003). Neonatal behavioral assessment scale as a predictor of later developmental disabilities of low birth-weight and/or premature infants. *Brain and Development*, 25(5), 313-321. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0387-7604(02)00233-4
- Onishi, K., & Baillargeon, R. (2005). Do 15-month-old infants understand false beliefs? *Science*, 308(5719), 255-258. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1107621

- Ortiz-Mantilla, S., Choudhury, N., Leevers, H., & Benasich, A. (2008). Understanding language and cognitive deficits in very low birth weight children. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 50(2), 107-126. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20278
- Paap, K., & Greenberg, Z. (2013). There is no coherent evidence for a bilingual advantage in executive processing. *Cognitive Psychology*, *66*(2), 232-258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogpsych.2012.12.002
- Pahnke, J. (2007). Visuelle Habituation und Dishabituation als Maße kognitiver Fähigkeiten im Säuglingsalter. Individuelle Differenzen in Habituationsaufgaben zur Unterscheidung einzelner vs. kategorialer Stimuli [Visual habituation and dishabituation as indicators of cognitive abilities in infancy. Individual differences in the discrimination of individual vs. categorial stimuli in habituation tasks] [Doctoral dissertation, University of Heidelberg, Germany]. http://www.ub.uni-heidelberg.de/archiv/7459
- Papageorgiou, K., Farroni, T., Johnson, M., Smith, T., & Ronald, A. (2015). Individual differences in newborn visual attention associate with temperament and behavioral difficulties in later childhood. *Scientific Reports*, *5*(1), 11264. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep11264
- Parmentier, F., Elsey, J., Andrés, P., & Barceló, F. (2011). Why are auditory novels distracting? Contrasting the roles of novelty, violation of expectation and stimulus change. *Cognition*, 119(3), 374-380. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2011.02.001
- Quinn, P., & Eimas, P. (1996). Perceptual organization and categorization in young infants. In C. Rovee-Collier, & L. Lipsitt (Eds.), *Advances in infancy research, Vol. 10* (pp. 1-36). Abex Publishing.
- Rakison, D., & Yermolayeva, Y. (2011). How to identify a domain-general learning mechanism when you see one. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, *12*(2), 134-153. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248372.2010.535228
- Rasmussen, J., & Dunlap, W. (1991). Dealing with nonnormal data: Parametric analysis of transformed data vs nonparametric analysis. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, *51*(4), 809-820. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316449105100402
- Reynolds, G. (2015). Infant visual attention and object recognition. *Behavioural Brain Research, 285*, 34-43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.01.015
- Richards, J., & Cameron, D. (1989). Infant heart-rate variability and behavioral developmental status. *Infant Behavior and Development, 12*(1), 45-58. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-6383(89)90052-0
- Richards, J., & Casey, B. (1992). Development of sustained visual attention in the human infant. In B. Campbell, H. Hayne, & R. Richardson (Eds.), *Attention and information processing in infants and adults: Perspectives from human and animal research* (pp. 30-60). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Rieser-Danner, L. (2003). Individual differences in infant fearfulness and cognitive performance: A testing, performance, or competence effect? *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs, 129*(1), 41-71.
- Ropeter, A., & Pauen, S. (2013). Relating 7-month-olds visuo-spatial working memory to other basic mental skills assessed with two different versions of the habituation–dishabituation paradigm. *Infancy*, *18*(4), 578-603. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7078.2012.00133.x

- Rose, S., Feldman, J., & Jankowski, J. (2004). Infant visual recognition memory. *Developmental Review*, *24*(1), 74-100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2003.09.004
- Rose, S., Feldman, J., Jankowski, J., & Van Rossem, R. (2012). Information processing from infancy to 11 years: Continuities and prediction of IQ. *Intelligence*, 40(5), 445-457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2012.05.007
- Ruff, H. (1986). Components of attention during infants' manipulative exploration. *Child Development*, *57*(1), 105-114. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130642
- Ruxton, G. (2006). The unequal variance t-test is an underused alternative to Student's t-test and the Mann–Whitney U test. *Behavioral Ecology*, *17*(4), 688-690. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ark016
- Samuel, S., Roehr-Brackin, K., Pak, H., & Kim, H. (2018). Cultural effects rather than a bilingual advantage in cognition: A review and an empirical study. *Cognitive Science*, *42*(7), 2313-2341. https://doi.org/10.1111/cogs.12672
- Sicard-Cras, I., Rioualen, S., Pellae, E., Misery, L., Sizun, J., & Roué, J.-M. (2022). A review of the characteristics, mechanisms and clinical significance of habituation in foetuses and newborn infants. *Acta Paediatrica*, 111(2), 245-258. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.16115
- Siddiqui, K. (2013). Heuristics for sample size determination in multivariate statistical techniques. *World Applied Sciences Journal, 27*(2), 285-287.
- Siddle, D., & Glenn, S. (1974). Habituation of the orienting response to simple and complex stimuli. *American Journal of Mental Deficiency*, 78(6), 688-693.
- Sigman, M., Cohen, S., & Beckwith, L. (1997). Why does infant attention predict adolescent intelligence? *Infant Behavior and Development, 20*(2), 133-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(97)90016-3
- Singh, L. (2021). Evidence for an early novelty orientation in bilingual learners. *Child Development Perspectives, 15*(2), 110-116. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12407
- Singh, L., Fu, C., Rahman, A., Hameed, W., Sanmugam, S., Agarwal, P., Jiang, B., Chong, Y., Meaney, M., Rifkin-Graboi, A. (2015). Back to basics: A bilingual advantage in infant visual habituation. *Child Development*, *86*(1), 294-302. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12271
- Slater, A., & Morison, V. (1985). Selective adaptation cannot account for early infant habituation: A response to Dannemiller and Banks. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, *31*(1), 99-103.
- Slater, A., Morison, V., & Rose, D. (1983). Locus of habituation in the human newborn. *Perception*, *12*(5), 593-598. https://doi.org/10.1068/p120593
- Slater, A., Morison, V., & Rose, D. (1984). Habituation in the newborn. *Infant Behavior and Development, 7*(2), 183-200. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(84)80057-0
- Slaughter, V., & Suddendorf, T. (2007). Participant loss due to "fussiness" in infant visual paradigms: A review of the last 20 years. *Infant Behavior and Development, 30*(3), 505-514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2006.12.006
- Sokolov, E. (1990). The orienting response, and future directions of its development. *The Pavlovian Journal of Biological Science,* 25(3), 142-150. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02974268

StataCorp. (2019). Stata Statistical Software: Release 16. StataCorp LLC.

- Stekmachowicz, P., Pittman, A., Hoover, B., & Lewis, D. (2004). Novel-word learning in children with normal hearing and hearing loss. *Ear and Hearing, 25*(1), 47-56. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.AUD.0000111258.98509.DE
- Tamis-LeMonda, C., & Bornstein, M. (1989). Habituation and maternal encouragement of attention in infancy as predictors of toddler language, play, and representational competence. *Child Development*, *60*(3), 738-751. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130739
- Tein, J.-Y., Coxe, S., & Cham, H. (2013). Statistical power to detect the correct number of classes in latent profile analysis. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 20*(4), 640-657. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705511.2013.824781
- Teubert, M., Vierhaus, M., & Lohaus, A. (2011). Frühkindliche Untersuchungsmethoden zur Intelligenzprognostik [Methods for predicting later intelligence during infancy]. *Psychologische Rundschau, 62*(2), 70-77. https://doi.org/10.1026/0033-3042/a000068
- The ALSPAC Study Team. (2019). *The ALSPAC study. CIF file data. Collected at clinic. Child in focus. At around 4, 8, 12, 18, 25, 31, 37, 43, 49 & 61 months.* University of Bristol. http://www.bristol.ac.uk/alspac/external/documents/ALSPAC_Data_Dictionary.zip
- Thomas, H., & Gilmore, R. (2004). Habituation assessment in infancy. *Psychological Methods,* 9(1), 70-92. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.9.1.70
- Thomas, J., Leevers, H., Khanna, P., & Benasich, A. (1998). Characterization of habituation in very low birth weight and full term infants. *Infant Behavior and Development, 21*(Supplement), 720. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-6383(98)91933-6
- Thompson, R. (2009). Habituation: A history. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory, 92*(2), 127-134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2008.07.011
- Tomalski, P., Marczuk, K., Pisula, E., Malinowska, A., Kawa, R., & Niedźwiecka, A. (2017). Chaotic home environment is associated with reduced infant processing speed under high task demands. *Infant Behavior and Development, 48*, 124-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2017.04.007
- Treiber, F. (1982). *Temperament differences between infants who do and do not complete laboratory testing*. Dallas, Texas: Paper presented at the Meeting of the Southwestern Psychological Association.
- Ulrich, R., & Miller, J. (1994). Effects of truncation on reaction time analysis. Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 123(1), 34-80. https://doi.org/10.1037/0096-3445.123.1.34
- VanLehn, K. (1996). Cognitive skill acquisition. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 47(1), 513-539. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.47.1.513
- Vermunt, J., & Magidson, J. (2002). Latent class cluster analysis. In J. Hagenaars, & A. McCutcheon (Eds.), *Applied latent class analysis* (pp. 89-106). Cambridge University Press.
- Vonderlin, E., Pahnke, J., & Pauen, S. (2008). Infant temperament and information processing in a visual categorization task. *Infant Behavior and Development, 31*(4), 559-569. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2008.07.011

- Wachs, T., & Smitherman, C. (1985). Infant temperament and subject loss in a habituation procedure. *Child Development*, *56*(4), 861-867. https://doi.org/10.2307/1130098
- Wagner, L., & Carey, S. (2005). 12-month-old infants represent probable endings of motion events. *Infancy*, 7(1), 73-83. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327078in0701_6
- Wass, S., & Leong, V. (2016). Developmental psychology: How social context influences infants' attention. *Current Biology*, 26(9), 357-359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2016.03.051
- Waxman, S., & Kosowski, T. (1990). Nouns mark category relations: Toddlers' and preschoolers' word-learning biases. *Child Development*, *61*(5), 1461-1473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1990.tb02875.x
- Weinert, S., Artelt, C., Prenzel, M., Senkbeil, M., Ehmke, T., Carstensen, C., & Lockl, K. (2019).
 Development of competencies across the life course. In H.-P. Blossfeld, & H.-G. Roßbach (Eds.), *Education as a lifelong process* (pp. 57-81). Springer VS. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-658-23162-0_4
- Weinert, S., Attig, M., & Roßbach, H.-G. (2017). The emergence of social disparities Evidence on early mother-child interaction and infant development from the German National Educational Panel Study (NEPS). In H.-P. Blossfeld, N. Kulic, J. Skopek, & M. Triventi (Eds.), *Childcare, Early Education and Social Inequality* (pp. 89-108). Edward Elgar Publishing. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781786432094
- Weinert, S., Linberg, A., Attig, M., Freund, J., & Linberg, T. (2016). Analyzing early child development, influential conditions, and future impacts: Prospects of a German newborn cohort study. *International Journal of Child Care and Education Policy*, *10*(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40723-016-0022-6
- Werker, J., & Byers-Heinlein, K. (2008). Bilingualism in infancy: First steps in perception and comprehension. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 12*(4), 144-151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2008.01.008
- Werner, J., & Perlmutter, M. (1979). Development of visual memory in infants. In H. Reese, & L. Lipsitt (Eds.), *Advances in child development and behavior (Vol. 14).* Academic Press.
- Westfall, P. (2014). Kurtosis as peakedness, 1905-2014. RIP. *The American Statistician, 68*(3), 191-195. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2014.917055
- Whelan, R. (2008). Effective analysis of reaction time data. *The Psychological Record, 58*(3), 475-482. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03395630
- Williams, M., Grajales, C., & Kurkiewicz, D. (2013). Assumptions of multiple regression: Correcting two misconceptions. *Practical Assessment, Research, and Evaluation, 18*(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.7275/55hn-wk47
- Woodward, A. (1998). Infants selectively encode the goal object of an actor's reach. *Cognition, 69*(1), 1-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0010-0277(98)00058-4
- Young, D., & Hunter, D. (2015). Random effects regression mixtures for analyzing infant habituation. *Journal of Applied Statistics, 42*(7), 1421-1441. https://doi.org/10.1080/02664763.2014.1000272

Zhang, D. (2007). Learn a word learning constraint: Emergence of the taxonomic constraint and its relationship with early word acquisition [Doctoral dissertation, University of Bamberg, Germany]. https://fis.uni-bamberg.de/handle/uniba/125

8. Appendix: Stimulus material

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
	Attention getter	3	Ô
1	Task A Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
2	Task A Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
3	Task A Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
4	Task A Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)

Wave 1: Presentation sequence of the stimulus material

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
5	Task A Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
6	Task A Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
7	Task A Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
8	Task A Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
9	Task A Habituation phase	10	

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
10	Task A Dishabituation phase	15	
		1	white screen (intertrial interval)
11	Task A Dishabituation phase	15	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
12	Task A Attention control	15	
		1	white screen (intertrial interval)
13	Task A Attention control	15	
		5	white screen (pause interval)
	Attention getter	3	Ô
14	Task B Habituation phase	10	

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
15	Task B Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
16	Task B Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
17	Task B Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
18	Task B Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
19	Task B Habituation phase	10	

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
20	Task B Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
21	Task B Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
22	Task B Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
23	Task B Dishabituation phase	15	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
24	Task B Dishabituation phase	15	

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
25	Task B Attention control	15	Contraction of the second s
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
26	Task B Attention control	15	Contraction of the second s
	En	d of habituation-disha	bituation tasks

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
	Attention getter	3	Ô
1	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
2	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
3	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
4	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)

Wave 2: Presentation sequence of the stimulus material

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
5	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
6	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
7	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
8	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
9	Task C Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
10	Task C Dishabituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
11	Task C Dishabituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
12	Task C Attention control	10	Contraction of the second seco
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
13	Task C Attention control	10	
		5	white screen (pause interval)
	Attention getter	3	õ
14	Task D Habituation phase	10	

15Task D Habituation phase10Image: Second seco	Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
15 Habituation phase 10 Image: Constraint of the serie of t			2	white screen (intertrial interval)
16 Task D Habituation phase 10 Image: Constraint of the series	15		10	
16Task D Habituation phase10Image: Constraint of the series of the			2	white screen (intertrial interval)
17Task D Habituation phase10Image: Constraint of the second interval inte	16		10	
17 Habituation phase 10 Image: second constraints of the second constrai			2	white screen (intertrial interval)
18 Task D Dishabituation phase 10 Image: Constraint of the second sec	17		10	
18 Dishabituation phase 10 Image: Constraint of the second			2	white screen (intertrial interval)
19 Task D 10 Image: Constraint of the second	18		10	
Task D 19 10 Dishabituation phase			2	white screen (intertrial interval)
	19		10	
White screen (intertrial interval)			2	white screen (intertrial interval)

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
20	Task D Attention control	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
21	Task D Attention control	10	
		5	white screen (pause interval)
	Attention getter	3	õ
22	Task E Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
23	Task E Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
24	Task E Habituation phase	10	

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
25	Task E Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
26	Task E Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
27	Task E Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
28	Task E Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
29	Task E Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)

Trial	Task	Presentation time (seconds)	Stimulus
30	Task E Habituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
31	Task E Dishabituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
32	Task E Dishabituation phase	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
33	Task E Attention control	10	
		2	white screen (intertrial interval)
34	Task E Attention control	10	
	End	of habituation-disha	abituation tasks

Documentation of the modifications as of April 2023

Date	Page	Modification
April 2023	Page 12	Inserting the footnote